STATE RACE TRACK LEASING COMMISSION (SRTLC)
AGENDA

August 14, 2023
11:00 A.M.

Del Mar Fairgrounds, Board Room
2260 Jimmy Durante Boulevard
Del Mar, California 92014
AND
Department of Finance
1021 O Street, Suite 3110
Sacramento, CA 95814

While the State Race Track Leasing Commission meeting will be conducted in person, the Commission
will also provide for remote participation by members of the public. If you prefer to participate remotely,
please check the 22nd DAA’s website (Public Information) for the ZOOM link and/or ZOOM dial-in

instructions on how to participate and/or view this meeting.

Items listed on this Agenda may be considered in any order, at the discretion of the chairperson.

1. Roll Call

2.

Approval of Minutes

1. March 30, 2022 (Action Item)

Reports

22" DAA Update (Informational)

Del Mar Capital Improvement Account (Informational)
DMTC Operating Results for 2022 (Informational)
Racing Industry Update (Informational)

2023 Summer Race Meet Dates — July 21 thru September 10 (Informational)

2023 Fall Race Meet Dates — November 10 thru December 3 (Informational)

Public Comment on Matters Not Appearing on the Agenda

This item is for Public comment on issues NOT on the current Agenda. However, no
debate by the Board shall be permitted on such public comments and no action will be
taken on such public comment items at this time, as law requires formal public notice
prior to any action on a docket item. Speaker’s time is limited to two minutes and may
be modified based on the number of public speakers. No speaker may cede their time

to another speaker.

Recess to convene and hold the Del Mar Race Track Authority meeting

New Business

1. Consideration and request for approval of the Breeders’ Cup agreement

between the Del Mar Thoroughbred Club and the Breeders’ Cup, as required

by Paragraph 5.8 of the Operating Agreement, added to the Operating
Agreement with adoption of the Second Amendment to the Operating
Agreement. (Action)

Adjournment

3-5

Verbal
6-8
9-47
Verbal
Verbal
Verbal

48-159



https://delmarfairgrounds.com/about-us/public-information/

ROLL CALL

STATE RACE TRACK LEASING (SRTLC) COMMISSIONERS

Department of Finance (DOF)

Gayle Miller, Chair
Chief Deputy Director, Policy, Delegate for Joe Stephenshaw, Director, SRTLC Chair

Department of General Services (DGS)

Jennifer Osborn, Delegate
Chief Deputy Director, Delegate for Ana M. Lasso, Director; Commissioner

Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFEA)

Michael Flores, Delegate
Deputy Secretary Administration and Finance, Delegate for Karen Ross, Secretary;
Commissioner

22" District Agricultural Association (229 DAA)

Richard Valdez, Commissioner
22nd DAA Board President

Lisa Barkett, Commissioner
22nd DAA Board Vice President

Kathlyn Mead, Commissioner
22"d DAA Board Member

Office of the Attorney General California

Josh Caplan
Deputy Attorney General

Page 2



STATE RACE TRACK LEASING COMMISSION MEETING
Minutes — Tuesday, March 30, 2022

The State Race Track Leasing Commission (SRTLC) met on Tuesday, March 30, 2022
via ZOOM/teleconference in the Board Room hosted by the 22" District Agricultural
Association (22" DAA) 2260 Jimmy Durante Blvd., Del Mar, CA.

ROLL CALL
SRTLC Delegate Chair Gayle Miller called the meeting to order at 11:23 a.m. with a
guorum present. Delegate Chair Miller moved New Business up after Reports.

Department of Finance (DOF) - Keely Bosler, Director; SRTLC Chair
Gayle Miller, Chief Deputy Director, Policy; Delegate Chair

Department of General Services (DGS) VACANT, Director; SRTLC Commissioner
Jennifer Osborn, Acting Director for the Department of General Services, Delegate

Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFEA) — Karen Ross, Secretary; SRTLC
Commissioner
Kevin Masuhara, Deputy Secretary Administration and Finance, Delegate

22"d District Agricultural Association (22" DAA)
Richard Valdez, RTLC Commissioner

Lisa Barkett, RTLC Commissioner

Kathlyn Mead, RTLC Commissioner

Carlene Moore, 22" DAA CEO

Office of the Attorney General California
Josh Caplan, Deputy Attorney General

OTHERS PRESENT

Kevin Civale

Mark Young

Donna O’Leary, 22" DAA Executive Assistant

Melinda Carmichael, 22" DAA Chief Administrative Officer
Michael Sadegh, 22" DAA Finance Director

Josh Rubinstein, President and COO, Del Mar Thoroughbred Club
Joe Harper, CEO, Del Mar Thoroughbred Club

Mike Ernst, Executive VP, CFO, Del Mar Thoroughbred Club

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

March 30, 2021

Commission Delegate Chair Miller moved to approve the March 30, 2021, meeting
minutes. Commissioner Barkett seconded. SRTLC Delegate Chair Miller,
Commissioners Osborn, Masuhara, Valdez, Barkett, and Mead, were in favor and the
motion carried.

Page 1 of 3

Page 3



REPORTS

22nd DAA Update

22" DAA CEO Carlene Moore explained that the San Diego County Fair was not held
in 2021, but in its place was “Home Grown Fun” a scaled down event. Overall, it was
very well received by the community. CEO Moore announced that plans for the 2022
San Diego County Fair have begun.

DMTC Operating Results for 2021

Del Mar Thoroughbred Club (DMTC) CEO Joe Harper reported that due to having the
Breeders’ Cup and betting handle being way up they were able to present a check for
rent to the RTA for a little over $10 million. President and COO Josh Rubinstein
reviewed the DMTC budget report on pages 7-27. Although still a challenging year due
to the pandemic guidelines ever changing, the 2021 racing season at Del Mar was very
successful due in part to the Breeders’ Cup held November 5 and 6. It alone brought in
over $70 million of positive economic impact to the San Diego region.

Racing Industry Update

DMTC President and COO Rubinstein reported that the Horseracing Integrity Safety

Act, also known as HISA, regulates horseracing on a national level. HISA will largely

implement the regulations that have been in place in California the last several years,
including regulations on track safety and medication.

2022 Summer Race Meet Dates — July 22 through September 11 and 2022 Fall Race
Meet Dates — November 11 through December 4

DMTC released their 2022 summer racing program and announced that DMTC will be
paying out the highest purses in California history, an average of $800,000 a day to
owners, trainers, and jockeys.

Public Comment on DMTC Operating Results, page 22 -32

Martha Sullivan Maria Luisa

Jim Coleman Kimberly Marrs
Oscar de la Torre Wayne Johnson
Doug O’Neil

NEW BUSINESS

Consideration and vote on whether to delegate authority to the Chief Executive Officer
of the 22" District Agricultural Association and to the Director of Finance of the 22"
District Agricultural Association to perform those functions that are necessary to
manage the State Race Track Leasing Commission bank accounts, including ensuring
that all funds received are deposited and maintained in accordance with California
law. (Action item)

Deputy Attorney General Josh Caplan gave a short overview of SRTLC framework and
how the funds from DMTC are immediately transferred out to the trustee for the bond
obligations. The delegation of authority is providing staff the ability to communicate with
the banks that hold the accounts for the SRTLC.

Page 2 of 3

Page 4



Commissioner Valdez moved to approve the delegation of authority as presented by
staff. Commissioner Mead seconded. SRTLC Delegate Chair Miller, Commissioners
Osborn, Masuhara, Valdez, Barkett, and Mead, were in favor and the motion carried.

PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT APPEARING ON THE AGENDA (page 39)
Martha Sullivan

RECESS TO CONVENE AND HOLD THE RACE TRACK AUTHORITY MEETING
The Commission recessed to the Del Mar Race Track Authority meeting at 12:36 p.m.
The Commission resumed at 1:34 p.m.

OTHER BUSINESS
None

ADJOURNMENT
Commissioner Valdez as the RTA President adjourned the meeting at 1:35 p.m. as
Commission Delegate Chair Miller had to depart the meeting early.

Page 3 of 3

Page 5



Bank Statements

Thursday, August 10, 2023 5:40:33PM

Del Mar Fair
Carlene Moore Page 1
Bank Account - Statement Date Description GL Date Closed?
RTLC Cap Imp 4911 - 12/31/2022 December 2022 12/31/2022
Statement Totals —Reconciled—  —— Difference — GL Balances
Beginning Balance: 0.00 0.00 0.00 Current GL Balance: 0.00
Total Deposits: 0.00 0.00 0.00 (Outstanding Deposits): 0.00
(Total Charges): 0.00 0.00 0.00 Outstanding Charges: 0.00
Ending Balance: 0.00 0.00 0.00 Compare to Bank Balance: 0.00

Total Number of Statements:

Page 6



Page 1of 2
Statement of Accounts

g@ CALIFORNIA éBANK

TRUST TRUST This Statement: December 30, 2022

Last Statement: November 30, 2022
PO Box 26547, Salt Lake City, UT 84126-0547

Account 2170174911

DIRECT INQUIRIES TO:

Customer Service 1 (800) 400-6080
0034531 4263-06-0000-CBT-PG0023-00000

DEL MAR RACE TRACK AUTHORITY
DEL MAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
2260 JIMMY DURANTE BLVD

DEL MAR CA 92014-2216

Del Mar Corporate Banking
2775 Via DE La Valle

Del Mar, CA 92014-1915
(858) 792-4770

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNT BALANCE

Checking/Savings Outstanding
Account Type Account Number Ending Balance Balances Owed
Commercial Analyzed Checking 2170174911 $0.00
COMMERCIAL ANALYZED CHECKING 2170174911 128 0
Previous Balance Deposits/Credits Charges/Debits Checks Processed Ending Balance
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6. DEPOSITS/CRED | TS ..............................................................................................................................................................
There were no transactions this period.
0 CHARGES/DEBITS
There were no transactions this period.
0 CHECKS PROCESSED
There were no transactions this period.
AGGREGATE OVERDRAFT AND RETURNED ITEM FEES
Total for This Period Total Year-to-Date
Total Overdraft Fees $0.00 $0.00
Total Returned Item Fees $0.00 $0.00

To learn more about our other products and services that may lower the cost of managing account
overdrafts or to discuss removing overdraft coverage from your account, please contact Customer
Service or visit your local branch.

DAILY BALANCES
Date.........ccococoeiin. Balance
12/30 0.00

A division of Zions Bancorporation, N.A. Member FDIC £&i8Ex 0034533860d001-0064936



An Easy Approach To Balancing Your Account

Page 2 of 2

To reconcile your checkbook balance to your statement balance: Mark off each entry in your check register that has been charged to your
account during the statement period. List the checks you have written, but are not yet charged to your account in the “Checks Qutstanding” column

below. Then, follow the instructions in lines 1 through 10.

CHECKS OUTSTANDING

CHECKBOOK BALANCE

Check Number Check Amount

1. LIST your checkbook balance.

2. ADD any deposits or other credits listed on the front of this statement
which you have not recorded in your checkbook (such as payroll credits
or other direct electronic deposits).

3. SUBTOTAL:

4. SUBTRACT any charges listed on the front of this statement which
you have not recorded (such as service charges, automatic transfers,
electronic transactions, etc).

5. ADJUSTED CHECKBOOK BALANCE:

[

This balance should agree with line 10, below.

STATEMENT BALANCE

statement.

6. LIST your current statement balance as shown on the front of this

7. ADD deposits made, but not shown on this statement.

8. SUBTOTAL:

SUBTRACT total from “Checks Outstanding.”

> 9.
|

TOTAL: r

10. ADJUSTED STATEMENT BALANCE:

g

Transfer to Line 9.

PROMPTLY EXAMINE YOUR STATEMENT AND REPORT ANY PROBLEM

You must promptly examine your account statements and report any discoverable errors, unauthorized
signatures, alterations, missing endorsements, or unauthorized transfers. Failure to do s6 may result
in your loss of certain rights or remedies. For example, you must identify the discoverable alteration
or forgery of a check within 30 days of us sending you, or making available to you, the statement
reflecting that check, and you must also immediately report to us what you find. Businesses should
check their account transactions dally, for which various onfine services are available. For additional
information, please see your deposit account agreement and application service agreement(s) for
details. See also the consumer disclosures below.

CONSUMERACCOUNTS: IN CASE OF ERRORS OR QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR ELECTRONIC
TRANSFERS OR MONEY RESERVE TRANSACTIONS

If you think your statement is wrong, or if you need more information about a transfer on this
staternent or on a receipt, please telephone or write us, Please use the telephone number or
address listed on the front of this statement to contact us as you can. We must hear from you
no later than 60 days after we sent or made available the FIRST statement on which the
problem or error appeared. The provisions in this paragraph do not apply to business or
other non-personal accounts. The owners of those accounts must settle all unauthorized
transactions or errors within 24 hours of receipt of the item posting in order to be returned.

1. Tell us your name and account number.

2. Describe the error or transfer you are unsure about, and explain as clearly as you can why
you believe there is an error or why you need more information.

3. Tell us the dollar amount of the suspected error.

We will investigate your complaint and correct any error prompily. If we take more than 10
business days to do this, we will recredit your account for the amount you think is in error, so that
you will have use of the money during the time it takes us to complete our investigation.

FOR MONEY RESERVE ACCOUNTS:

IN CASE OF ERRORS OR QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR PERSONAL CREDIT LINE
(This is a Summary of Your Billing Righis).

If you think your statement is wrong, or you need more information about a transaction on your
statement, write us at the address on the front of this statement as soon as possible. We must
hear from you no later than 60 days after we sent you the first statement on which the
error or problem appeared.

This balance should agree with line 5, above.

You can telephone us but doing so will not preserve your rights. In your letter, give us the

following information.

1.
2.
3.

Your name and account number.
The dollar amount of the suspected error.

Describe the error and explain, if you can, why you believe there is an error. If you need
more information, describe the item you are unsure about.

You do not have to pay any amount in question while we are investigating, but you are still obligated
to pay the parts of your bill that are not in question. The charge in question may remain on your
statement, and we may continue to charge you interest on that amount. But, if we determine that
we made a mistake, you will not have to pay the amount in question or any interest or other fees
related to that amount. While we investigate your question, we cannot report you as delinguent
or take any action to collect the amount you question. You must notify us in writing. You can
telephone us, but doing so will not preserve your rights. Contact us at California Bank & Trust, PO
Box 25787, Salt Lake City, UT 84125-0787.

Bal

biect to |

)

t Rate: We use the method called “average daily balance”, (including

current transactions) to calculate the daily balance. if you have any further questions about
the method and how resulting interest charges are determined, please feel free to contact us
at 1-800-400-6080.

We may report information about your Money Reserve account to credit bureaus. Late

payments, missed payments, or other defaults on your account may be reflected in your
credit report.

Please notify us if we report any inaccurate information about your account(s) to a
credit bureau. Your written notice describing the specific inaccuracy should be sent to us at the
following address: California Bank & Trust, PO Box 25787, Salt Lake City, UT 84125-0787.

Thank you for banking with California Bank & Trust.

Become an Online Banking Customer for 24-hour account access.

*Review account balances *Review posted transactions ¢ Pay bills * Transfer funds
Sign up today at www.calbanktrust.com or call 888-217-1265.

003433960801-0064936



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



State Race Track Leasing Commission
Item 6-1, Consideration of Breeders’ Cup Agreement

Backqground:

The State Race Track Leasing Commission (Commission) was created through Food
and Agriculture Code 4352 by the State Legislature in 1968 with the responsibility and
authority to lease the Del Mar Race Track (Race Track) of the 22" District Agricultural
Association (District) and to oversee the expenditure of the rents received from leasing
the track for the purpose of implementing a long-range, comprehensive improvement to
District property.

On January 1, 2011, and following completion of a competitive bidding process, the
Commission, acting on behalf of the District, and the Del Mar Thoroughbred Club
(DMTC), entered into the Del Mar Race Track Operating Agreement (Operating
Agreement). The initial Operating Agreement was a five-year term, with three, five-year
options. Under the Operating Agreement, the Commission granted to DMTC the
exclusive right to operate a portion of the Del Mar Fairgrounds for the purpose of
providing thoroughbred horse racing at the Del Mar Fairgrounds.

In 2014, due to the California Horse Racing Board granting DMTC the right to conduct
an additional live horse race meet in November of 2014 and 2015, the Commission
executed a Second Amendment to the Operating Agreement which increased the
annual Direct Payment to the District and added Section 5.8, which states “If Operator
enters into negotiations with Breeders’ Cup Ltd., for conducting the Breeders’ Cup at the
Del Mar Race Track, Operator shall consult with and solicit the input of the District on a
regular basis. Subject to the foregoing and the consent of the District, Operator shall
negotiate with Breeders’ Cup Ltd. for conducting Breeders’ Cup at the Del Mar Race
Track located at the Del Mar Fairgrounds; provided, however, that any final agreement
shall be subject to the prior approval of the [State Race Track Leasing] Commission.”

Through the DMTC'’s operations at the Del Mar Fairgrounds, the Race Track was
selected as the host site for the Breeders’ Cup World Championships in 2017 and 2021.
The Race Track has once again been selected as the host site for the return of the
Breeders’ Cup World Championships in 2024.

For the 2017 and 2021 Breeders’ Cup events at the Race Track, the practice has been
for DMTC to present the terms to the District for approval by the District’s Board of
Directors and the agreement to the Commission for approval. Consistent with that
practice, the District Board of Directors approved the financial terms as outlined in the
attached memo from DMTC, on April 11, 2023.

Page 48



D EL MAR

ﬂ-—
Josh Rubinstein THOROUGHBRED CLUB
President & COO

April 4, 2023

Sent via email: cmoore@sdfair.com

Carlene Moore

Chief Executive Officer

22" District Agricultural Association
2260 Jimmy Durante Blvd

Del Mar, CA 92014

Dear Ms. Moore,

We write to update the 22" District Agricultural Association (“District”) on the Del Mar Thoroughbred Club
(“DMTC”) being awarded the role as host of the 2024 Breeders’ Cup World Championships. When DMTC hosted
the Breeders’ Cup in 2017 and 2021, you and the District’s Board of Directors saw first-hand that the Breeders’
Cup represents the pinnacle of Thoroughbred racing throughout the world. The event attracts the sport’s
premier participants from all over the globe, generates sellout crowds and showcases Del Mar to a domestic and
international audience on-site and through NBC Sports’ television broadcast.

The positive financial impact of DMTC hosting the Breeders’ Cup is significant for the region, local businesses
and, of course, the District. Indeed, the event fills local hotels, restaurants and other businesses. Based on the
economic impact study issued following the 2017 Breeders’ Cup, the region’s total economic impact from DMTC
hosting the 2024 Breeders’ Cup at the Del Mar Fairgrounds & Race Track is projected to be over $100 million.
When coupled with the financial impact of Del Mar’s summer and fall race meets, DMTC’s 2024 horse racing
operations are projected to provide a combined positive economic impact to the local community of over

$300 million.

As was the case when DMTC hosted the 2017 and 2021 Breeders’ Cups, the financial terms for the 2024 event
are subject to approval by the District and the State Race Track Leasing Commission (“SRTLC”). We are pleased
to share the following terms for the District’s consideration of DMTC hosting the Breeders’ Cup World
Championships on November 1 & 2, 2024:

e Facility Rental Fee: The District will receive a $600,000 facility rental fee. Please note that this is a 50%
increase from the $400,000 facility rental fee the District received for the 2021 event.

e Walk-Up Food & Beverage Concessions: The District will receive 50% of net revenue (defined as gross
revenue less cost of goods sold and direct labor attributable to sales) generated from walk-up food and
beverage concessions during the two-day event, subject to a cap on such retention of $200,000. For
reference, the District received $200,000 in both 2017 and 2021 when DMTC hosted the Breeders’ Cup.

e Event Expenses: ALL costs associated with operation of the 2024 Breeders’ Cup are the responsibility of
Breeders’ Cup Limited.

Page 49


mailto:cmoore@sdfair.com

e  Future Year Option: The Breeders’ Cup has the option — at the same favorable terms to the District as
noted above — to present the World Championships at Del Mar in 2026, 2027 or 2028. This future year
option is contingent on the Breeders’ Cup providing written notice to DMTC on or before May 15 of the
year that is two years prior to the year for which the event is exercised. In addition, the option is
contingent on DMTC continuing as the operator of Thoroughbred racing at Del Mar following the
current term of the Del Mar Race Track Operating Agreement which expires on December 31, 2025.

Upon approval by the District’s Board of Directors of the terms outlined above, DMTC will request a similar
approval by the SRTLC at their upcoming meeting.

DMTC is delighted to have been chosen to host our third Breeders’ Cup and we very much look forward to
welcoming another global audience to Del Mar’s world-class facility and the tremendous economic benefit it will
bring to the District and local businesses. The award of our third World Championships in eight years is a
testament to the exceptional community asset that is the Del Mar Fairgrounds & Race Track.

Sincerely,

Josh Rubinstein
President & Chief Operating Officer

cc: Director Lisa Barkett, DMTC Liaison Committee Member
Director Richard Valdez, DMTC Liaison Committee Member
Joseph W. Harper
Michael R. Ernst

Page 50



AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

BREEDERS’ CUP LIMITED

DEL MAR THOROUGHBRED CLUB

FOR

BREEDERS’ CUP WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS

2024

Page 51




TADLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1
DEFENITIONS 1iceirinnisninsmesennsiissisimmimmsessmessossnsssssssssrseessssessessrsssssssssosnsssssresssessesssssne 2
Ll DEBINItIONS .ot c et e areme e esresesers bereesessaent saeessesenesesesset s senseseme s sses 2
ARTICLE 2
PRESENTATION OF CHAMPIONSHEP.......coieensrinminnsssssisssisssssssssensessessassnreessessssssossssnss 7
2.1, The Championship........cccooiiien et e e ra e eee s 7
2.2, Revision of RACES OF STANTATIAS .....oviiveerieceeecrieeseesssrssessessestssesessssesssastsensesesesse i 7
ARTICLE 3
ELIGIBILITY AND FEES........covce000000 R EEe LR IAbS S i ReE R e AN U RS £ORARR R nbetn benetr e werberrrerevinaneers 8
Fl. ELIDILEY .o ve o iicceivecsn st eb e seest et s resa e s ee st vaessensesansbennsatannssstenesesenssmneses 8
320 FBES crvcctitereceie et s bbbttt aae e sa et esa s e teeteeretenetnr e tar sent et e e et eeeees 9
ARTICLE 4
PURSES 1stcctonimiimeiniainiiianiiiosssmensiasisssnosstessresssrsssstsss issesssseassessasessesnssssisssssssnsessssssssesssmsssnssns 9
T TL PUESE SEIUCLULE .....c.cocvvs et vt et sesseste st eessesseeesssesssansssenasasos sbomssns b eeme s 6
4.2.  Delivery of Purse MORIES.........cccoovemnininrii s isenieessssessisssisessssess sssssassesessssnans 10
ARTICLE S
CONTRIBUTION...coivvrmrenrsasevsiossass R ERRSEeENEeEEEAES e INLe YO e b b u R kR e nae R R SRR AT PR LSS ARR S R RSP e ba b e mnannares 11
5.1 CONTTIDIEION c.vviivivteeereneeeecies ettt et e st s e e seas s et sesasanseesessssenss esenmtstessse e e 11
52,  Delivery of Facility Contribution ............c..ooovvevovrieseeireseereesenereeses e ieressersssoseins 11
5.3, Facility Improvement DepPosit .........cccoeeieveiericeiviiciisee e eeseesemses e sessesrersstesees 13
ARTICLE 6
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BCL....oovoiesorecsusesissssssesssesessesesssresomessnesas 13
6.1.  Organization and QUAalIICAtION ........cvveieriveiiriieierreetieereeeesssessssssresssssessssosessessns 13
6.2.  Authorization; Absence of Violation or Defamll ......coveveevivevreeeeeeeeee e seerse e 13
0.3, DHSCIOSIIEE.....vviiiiivieeerieiisie s tiiesrceseisessae e rsetrent s statesanestssentansss sesstmsssssssnsses venseeesesss 14
ARTICLE 7
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HOST ..o coeerevsersressesesssssrsssssessssssesnssnses 14
71— Organization-and - Qualification .o oo 14
7.2.  Authorization; Absence of Violation or Defatlt .........ccovvereevreriveeoiseessereeeses e 14
T3, PrOCERAINES ..ottt es e e st s aste e st saaesesesbtossee st se s seneneeseenes | 15
7.4.  Compliance with Laws and Other INStrumnents...........coccveeviveoressiserssessssressesessosses 15
7.5, Labor ReIAtIONS .. ..occvieeeiereiiiiieiieieeie s evsessesseesesessesessnsessessssssssasasss i sessssesssessenssesss 15
7.6, Bale OF FACIEY ..c.eovreeeece ettt e ses s sesne s sessressesaensbbotersssoseesssne st saes 16
F7. DHSCIOSUIC...vvcviiieciie e crree st b et eetessesaessteabesssssssssteessrsnsereeessres veerereearan 16
ARTICLE 8
COVENANTS OF HOST ...ovcrnveivens O EELo4ustat sbnderd s erasanaan R er R Yo fPoNaE RS A NN R R R bosRntaRs e 10r et s pAresnenrne 17

Page 52




8.1.  Simulcasting and Off-Track Wagering; Delivery of Simulcasting Net Revenue 17
8.2, Permits and Agreements; Conduct of Championship in Accordance with Law 22

8.3 Additional RACES .ovvccviiieieiiivceeinerie st sess e sress s esssseesssnsnessraees e 25
8.4. Condition and Preparation of the Race Conrses ............cccooovevveevnmiccrnericsnnnnn 26
8.5. [Lquine Facilities; Equine Drug Testing..........occccvvcvenreoiniennionen o seseerens 28
8.6, Media Access And COVEIAZE.......uci.cciccviiiireecrrienee s reseresssss sessssssesseseseessenssesssresss 32
8.7.  Trophy Presentations.........ccocviiivienmionioie s isssnssssssessssssssssssse s 35
8.8. Marketing and SponsorshipP........ccciimriicinecseeeitseesesereesiecsressrsenneesns 35
8.9, Hospitalify.....ccoviviiiiiiii e st s b e 39
8.10. Operating ButlZet........covveiciicnieiiicnriee e e et ssse et essesens 49
B.[1.  Totalisator SBECUKILY ......ccoccoveriiiiiincninmi e st eseseossessssetresevsna 51
.12, Treatment of TURUS ......ccccoveviviriieenc e e r et et s et seener e 52
8.13. Takeout on Pari-mutue]l Wagers .........ccccvviiviimriieicnieieries st siseserssesssesssenns 52

ARTICLE 9

PROPERTY RIGHTS AND LICENSE ....ocvrneserirnsmsiesssrrensassesessscrssssssesssssassosssasesssnsessssassane 52
9.1, Ownership of Properties..........covcinimiiinesen e sessens 52
9.2. Merchandise Licensing and Sales........................ b rerre s rn et st ase e e b s entebe s 53
9.3.  Creation of Champiouship Lo .......ccoovieiicivieaniciii i s ssesessrsrems 53
9.4.  License of BCL Marks.........ccoooeinommirenniiiniei ittt et sesmses s s e 54

ARTICLE 19

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PARTIES.....cciiicncrecrnrsasesasssrmssisssssssissesssssasssas vrererons 55
10.1. Relationship Between Parties..........ccovicevicinnniiicnscnrcomsisiss oot simsesessssssasans 55

ARTICLE 11

TERMINATION .oitiimiiiierirsissmsssissonsisensniasmmssssssariesssasssassssnssonsspesssnsssssstssesssossssssssssssosssaes 55
TLL, TerMination.....icciciiinirrconiaeesisee e essra s sisessassssassossessansasestesessasane 55
11.2,  Termination of BCL Option for Years 2026, 2027 or 2028........cccocorvvrrierrverrnnnns 57

ARTICLE 12

INDEMNIFECATION .ooiiiiiisnssassisinisnsessnsisssrsssssssssmsssssesssnsesssnssnsssanssserssisssossasessassssssssssan 58
12.1. BCL Indemnification...........ccciniimicinie e essistsseestesesssssens 58
12.2. Host Indemnification ...t ess e e 58
12,3, Indemnification Procedure ............iviviicriiecciinneseneicnesseissesssseiesessesenes 59

ARTICLE 13

FORCE MAJEURE ....occovenureennne SrEBaeoNINSRssaaREe SRRSOt AR A SRR SRR BB HO RO OA S SRAS pesrersnassnrenbetsrans 60
13,1, FOrce MAJEUTE ..ottt e s tesenast s b s s cs e s earenar et seae et esesresees 60

ARTICLE 14

INSURANCE civtienieissmisnsessasnesasmsaisensisessnsssnssssstissssiesssssssesasssssasssssssssastosss sossssssssstsassoseses 60
14,1, HOSE INSUFAICE c.evvireciiierieeicreeiee s reriess e s saesesne e ne s ss s absss b oba s bosobsasabensnsannees 60
142, Event INSUFANCE .......ccoomiiimminiiiniinesnee e s evessssssetsesssstssns cssesesssensnes 61

ARTICLE 15

MISCELLANEOUS. .......... SRR resresisreseernan TN Whbatsasnasone IR RS T RO RIS SRS b 62

ii

Page 53




151, Deliveries il INOTICES .. occvieccecci ettt tees e esrasreeseessses s seesssesssesssersessnessnnssnnne 62

1520 WAIVELS it et en s e s s b s e asns s s nebans 63
15,30 IEXPERIISES...oviiisiiiniviisimectnierreesresscanssasress s ees e b e e e b en v b se b bbb s ettt bonbbersea e s e aas 63
154, Headings and CounterParis.......criiiiiniieesniiiiersesin e s rssssesvssssesesees 63
155, ExRiDIES ..ot e s s e b s 63
15.6. ILntire Agreement; ModificAtion ..........ccveeevniiiciie et eeereneee e siaees 63
15.7. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue ...........cceoceivevevvevecrnrinennns 64
15,8, BInding TFECt. ..ottt b s e sssas st ben 65
159, Severability ..o s 65
15.10. Confidentialify ............cccoorimiiviiiniiiiicien s csses s vsve s esresrinesesesens 65
15.11, Survival of Covenants.......... e RTINS LA ORI E OO EEOE R ba L b sae e e 65
15.12. Option for 2026, 2027 or 2028 Breeders’ Cup World Championships................ 66
[5.13. Key Personmnel. ..o v ssisstsiessssasarssassesssseseresens 66
iii

Page 54




EXHIBITS

A - Facility Contribution Formula

B — Operating Budget

C -- Standards

D ~ Financial Reports

E — Collective Bargaining

F - Excise Tax/Races

G ~ Race Dates and Approvals

H — Location of Quarantine Facility

[ - Credential Guidelines

J — Host Track Marketing

K — Commercial Signage Specifications
L —First Class Experience

M — Hospitality Spaces

N — Admission and Reserved Ticket Prices
O — Concession Stations

P ~ Ticket Sales and Distribution Plan
Q - Parking

R -- Expense Approval Worksheet

S — Personinel Change

Iv

Page 55




Tebtvary 3
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into effective as of Pewsmer EL, 2022’, (the

AGREEMENT

“Effective Date”) by and between BREEDERS® CUP LIMITED, a New York not-for-profit
corporation having its principal office and place of business at 215 West Main Street, Suite 250,
Lexington, Kentucky 40507 (“BCL”) and DEL. MAR THOROUGHBRED CLUB, a California
corporation, having its principal office and place of business at 2260 Jimmy Durante Boulevard,
Del Mar, California 32017 (“Host™).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, BCL has been organized for the purpose of enhancing Thoroughbred racing
through the development of public interest in the sport of Thoroughbred racing, thereby improving
business conditions in the Thoroughbred industry;

WHEREAS, BCI sponsors a series of races known and designated as the Breeders® Cup
World Championships;

WHEREAS, pursuant to a written agreement with the State of California’s State Race
Track Leasing Commission (acting on behalf of the 22nd District Agricultural Association) Host
is the exclusive operator of Thoroughbred racing at the Del Mar Fairgrounds in Del Mar, California
(“Del Mar”) with a current term ending December 31, 2025 and an option exercisable by the State
Race Track Leasing Commission to extend the term thereof for another five-year term ending

December 31, 2030 (the “Del Mar Race Track Operating Agreement™);

WHEREAS, Host conducts live pari-mutuel racing at Del Mar under a license granted to
it under the laws of the State of California and has, or will obtain, the permits, licenses, authority
and facilities to conduct Thoroughbred racing as herein contemplated;

WHEREAS, the parties have negotiated an agreement under the terms of which the

Breeders’ Cup World Championships will be conducted by Host at Del Mar on November 1 and

Page 56




2, 2024, the terms and conditions of which agreement the parties now desire to reduce to writing
as hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements of the
parties as herein contained, and for other good and valuable considetation, the receipt, adequacy
and sufficiency of which being hereby acknowledged, it is hereby agreed by and between the
parties hereto as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS
1.1, Definitions
Unless otherwise defined in the Agreement for purposes of a specific reference,
capitalized terms appearing in the Agreement shall have the following meanings:

“Additional Races” shall mean the horse races, which Host will, with the approval of BCL,
schedule on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday at the Facility in accordance with
the provisions of Section 8.3 of the Agreement.

“Adverse Consequences” shall mean all proceedings, charges, complaints, claims,
demands, imjunctions, orders, damages, assessments, expenditures, outlays, awards, dues,
penalties, fines, costs, interest, amounts paid in settlement, liabilities, obligations, payments, taxes,
liens, losses, reduction in value, loss of use, injuries, expenses and fees of whatever nature,
including without limitation court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses.

“Affiliates” shall mean Breeders” Cup Properties, LL.C and Breeders’ Cup Charities, Inc.

“Agreement” shall collectively mean this Agreement and all exhibits hereto, as amended

from time to time by a party hereto pursuant to the terms hereof or by agreement of the parties
hereto.

“BCL Marks” shall mean the words “Breeders’ Cup” or “World Championships™ and any
logos, symbols or designs (i) referring to the Championship or (i) referring to, relating to, owned
by or licensed or sub-licensed by, BCL.

“Bankruptcy Event” shall mean, with respect to a Petson, if such Person shall (i)
discontinue business, ot cease doing business for more than ten (10} days; (i) make a general
assignment for the benefit of creditors; (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a custodian,
teceiver, trustee or liquidator of all or a substantial part of its assets; (iv) be adjudicated bankrupt
or insolvent; (v) file a voluntary petition in bankruptey or file a petition or an answer seeking a

Page 57




composition, recrganization or an arrangement with creditors or seck to take advantage of any
other law (whether federal or state) relating to relief for debtors, or admit (by answer, default or
otherwise) the malerial allegations of any petition filed against it in any bankruptcy,
teorganization, composition, insolvency or other Proceeding (whether federal or state) relating to
relief’ for debtors; (vi) suffer the filing of any involuntary petition in any bankruptey,
reorganization, insolvency or other Proceeding (whether federal or state), if the same is not
dismissed within thirty (30) days after the date of such filing; (vii) suffer or permit to continue any
judgment, decree or order entered by a court which assumes control of its business or financial
affairs or approves a petition seeking a reorganization, composition or arrangement of iis business
ot financial affairs or any other judicial modification of the rights of any of its creditors, or appoints
areceiver, trustee or liquidator for it, or for all or a substantial part of any of its businesses or assets
or financial affairs; (viii) be enjoined or restrained from conducting all or a material part of any of
its businesses as then conducted or as hereafter conducted and the same is not dismissed and
dissolved within thirty (30) days after the entry thereof; (ix) not be paying its debts generally as
they become due; or (x) admits in writing its inability, or is unable, to pay its debts generally as
they become due.

“Challenge” shall mean the Breeder’s Cup Win and You’re In Challenge program, which
are a series of select Thoroughbred horse races held at various tracks throughout the world created
to increase awareness of and interest in the Championships and create more high attendance days
for host racing associations.

“Championship” shall mean a series of Thoroughbred races called the Breeders® Cup
World Championships and consisting of the Races to be presented by Host at the Facility on
Championship Friday and Championship Saturday, and related activities contemplated in the
Operating Budget.

“Championship Friday” shall mean November 1, 2024.
“Championship Saturday” shall mean November 2, 2024.

“Championship Week” shall mean the period October 26, 2024, through November 3,
2024,

“Change in Control” shall mean with respect to any Person one or more of the following:
(i) any merger, share exchange or other reorganization to which such Person is a party or subject
whete there is greater than ten percent (10%) change in the ownership of such Person, (ii) the sale,
lease or exchange following the date of the Agreement (either-in one (1)-transaction or-a series-of

transactions) of greater than ten percent (10%) or more of the assets of such Person within a one
(1) year period, (iii) the issuance of equity interests in such Person following the date of the
Agreement (either in one (1) transaction or a series of transactions) which increases by greater than
ten pereent (10%) or more the equity of such person; (iv) the issuance of voting interests equal to
greater than thirty-three percent (33%) or more of the voting interests of such Person prior to such
issuance; or (v) any transfer of'a controlling interest (a “Controlling Interest™) in such Person or in
any entity which directly or indirectly owns & Controlling Interest in such Person.

Page 58




“Contribution” shall mean the sum of the Facility Contribution and all Simulcasting
Revenue.

“Dirt Dozen” shall mean the Breeders’ Cup Dirt Dozen program which is a series of
designated dirt Thoroughbred horse races held at various tracks throughout the United States.

“Eligibility Requirements” shall mean the requirements to be satisfied for a horse to be
eligible to compete in one of the Races as set forth in the Standacds.

“Entry Fees” shall mean the fees paid with respect to horses competing in the Races as
described in the section entitled “Entry Procedures and Fees: Entry Fee Requirements,” in the
Standards.

“Facility” shall mean the Del Mar racetrack facility in Del Mar, California, which includes,
without limitation, any stabling areas, exhibit halls, parking or other buildings and spaces.

“Facility Contribution” shall mean the amount of monies in United States dollars which
Host agrees to pay to BCL for the privilege of presenting the Championship and consisting of the
elements of the calculation of the Facility Contribution, all as set forth on Exhibit “A,” the formula
for the Facility Contribution being designed to provide Host with its average profits for a Friday
and Saturday of high quality stakes racing, including on-track simulcasting that would occur on
such days, reimbursement of Host’s lost profits that occur during the weeks leading up to the
Championship and following the Championship as compared to years when the Championship is
not conducted at the Facility and to recognize extraordinary costs incurred by Host in connection
with the Championship, including, without limitation, capital expenditures.

“Facility Gross Revenues” shall mean the aggregate Facility revenues for the
Championship in all categories set forth in the Operating Budget and any additional operating
revenues generated at the Facility on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday not
specifically set forth in the Operating Budget but specifically excluding BCL only related revenue,
which includes, without limitation, Simulcasting Revenues, merchandise revenues, and
sponsotship revenues and also excluding any statutory purse distribution to Facility horseman with
respect to on-track wagers in the Northern California simuleast signal.

“Facility Improvement Deposit” shall mean monies in United States Dollars equal to 50%
of Host’s share of Facility Net Revenue, which shall be deposited in a Facility Improvement Fund
to be invested in the upgrade of the Facility on capital projects mutually agreeable to BCL and
Host.

“Facility Net Revenue” shall mean the difference resulting from subtracting from Facility
Gross Revenues the sum of the aggregate Facility expenses actually expended for the
Championship in the categories set forth in the Operating Budget.

“Fees” shall include the Pre-Entry Fees, Entry Fees and other fees, except for BCL
nomination fees, coliected at Pre-entry and Entry.

Page 59




“Field Selection Methodology” shall mean the methodology to be used in determining the
horses which will compete in the Races as set forth in the section entitled “Breeders’ Cup Field
Selection Methodology” in the Standards.

“HISA” shall mean the Horseracing Integrity and Safety Act.

“Horseracing Act” shall mean the Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (15 U.S.C. §3001 et
seq.).

“Host Marks” shall mean the words “Del Mar,” and any logos, phrases, symbols, or designs
referring to Host or the Facility.

“Host Racing Commission” shall mean the racing regulatovy authority in the state where
the Facility is located with jurisdiction over the racing and wagering activities of Host.

“Material Adverse Event” respecting BCL, Host or the Facility shalt mean an event, change
or occurrence which, individually or together with any other event, change ot occurrence, has a
material adverse impact on (i) the financial condition, business or results of operations of such
party or Facility; (ii) the ability of such party or Facility to perform its obligations under this
Agreement or to consummate other transactions contemplated by this Agreement in accordance
with applicable law or orders; or (iii) the ownership rights of horseownets participating in the
Championship races .

“Off-Track Betting Facilities” shall mean any racetrack, off-track beiting facility or gaming
facility, advanced deposit wagering entity or any other entity, Petson, or facility, including,
without limitation, home wagering systems with the ability to wager on the Races and Additional
Races, but excluding the Facility, Golden Gate Fields, the Southern California Off-Track
Wagering Facilities and the Northern California Off-Track Wagering Facilities. “Operating
Budget” shall mean the budget attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”

“Person™ shall mean a natural person or any legal, commercial, or governmental entity,
such as, but not limited to, a corpotation, general partnership, joint venture, limited partnership,
limited liability company, limited liability limited partnership, trust, business association, group
acting in concert, or any person acting in a representative capacity which has a direct or indirect
financial interest in Host.

“Pre-Entry Fees” shall mean the fees paid with respect to horses competing in the Races as
described in the section entitled “Pre-Entry Fee Requirements” in the Standards.

“Properties” shall mean any and all property of whatever nature owned by or related to
BCL, including, without [imitation, the BCL Marks, the BCL name, logo, symbol, mascot, design
ot similar property.

“Property Rights” shall mean all rights in, related to or associated with the Properties,
including, without limitation, all intellectual property rights, broadcast, television, cable, pay,
satellite and other television, radio, streaming, Internet, social media platforms (including, without
limitation, any page, account, post, tweet notification or other application) and media rights and
privileges in and to the promotion, communication and commercial exploitation thereof.

Page 60




“Purse Distribution Rules” shall mean the rules respecting the distribution of Purse Monies
as set forth in the section entitled “Purse Distribution Rules” in the Standards.

“Purse Monies” shall mean the sum of the purses for the Races as prescribed by the Race
Conditions, which sums shall derive from (i) sums paid by BCL to Host pursuant to Section 4.2 of
the Agreement and (ii) such Fees and portion of the Contribution eleeted by BCL to offset monies
otherwise payable by BCL to Host for Purse Monies, as set forth in Sections 3.2 and 5.2,
respectively, of the Agreement,

“Races” shall mean the up to sixteen (16) Breeders’ Cup Championship races for
Thoroughbred horses as set forth in the section entitled “Race Conditions” in the Standards.

“Race Conditions” shall mean the conditions prescribed for the Races as set forth in the
section entitled “Race Conditions” in the Standards.

“Simulcasting” shall mean the authorized simulcasting of the Races and the Additional
Races, and interstate and international off-track wagering on the Races and the Additional Races,
including, without limitation, Pick 6 or other exotic wagering at locations other than the Facility
as well as telephone wagering, advanced deposit wagering (including, but not limited to, advance
deposit wagering under the contracts described in Section 8.1(lh) below), Internet or other computer
wagering, home wagering or any other form of wagering besides on-track pari-mutue! wagering
at the Facility; provided, however, that “Simulcasting” shall not include wagering at Southern
California Off-Track Wagering Facilities, the Northern California Off-Track Wagering Facilities,
and Golden Gate Fields,

“Simulcasting Revenue” shall mean all revenue which Host actually collects as a result of 1
the Simulcasting of the Races and the Additional Races through Host's good faith commercially |
reasonable efforts (which good faith commercially reasonable efforts shall not include the

requirement to commence litigation), less any money room shift in Host’s favor resulting from

Simulcasting which Host is unable to colleet through the exercise of good faith commercially

reasonable efforts (which good faith commercially reasonable efforts shall not include the

requirement to commence litigation).

“Standards™ shall mean the Race Conditions, the Eligibility Requirements and the Field
Selection Methodology set forth in Exhibit “C” attached hereto, as the same may be revised by
BCL in accordance with the Agreement,

“Term” shall mean, unless seoner terminated in accordance with Article 11 hereof, the =

period from the Effective Date, through December 31, 2024,

“Territory” shall mean Canada and all states, territories, and other property of the United |
States of America. |

“TSC” shall mean The Safety Coalition formed in November 2019 by the BCL and leading
raceirack organizations.

Page 61




ARTICLE 2

PRESENTATION OF CHAMPIONSHIP

2.1, The Championship

(a) Host agrees to present and conduct the Championship as set
forth herein, which undertaking by Host includes, without limitation, an agreement
by Host to present and conduct the Races at the Facility on Championship Friday and
Championship Saturday in accordance with the Standards and the other terms of this
Agreement.

(b) BCL and Host agree to hold a meeting of their respective
department managers and key staff at the Facility no fater than July 15, 2024 and
thereafter at the request of BCL, to review plans for the Championship. The agenda
for the meeting will include but not be limited to staffing, ticketing, temporary
seating, hospitality {including catering and food service which shall include detailed
staffing plans), racing, wagering (including wireless or Wi-Fi wagering at the
Facility), television, and marketing/promotion.

2.2, Revision of Races or Standards
BCL reserves the right to revise the Races or the Standards, including, without limitation,
the distance of each Race, the days on which the Races are run (but all Races must be run on either

Championship Friday or Championship Saturday), the number of Races, the times of each race,

and the order in which the Races are run, and any such revision shall be incorporated into and
become a part of this Agreement as if the same had been adopted prior to the date hereof and
included herein; provided, however, that apart from revisions to the purse structure of the Races

by BCL pursuant to Section 4.1 hereof no such revision shall be effective if it would, in the

Page 62




reasonable and good faith opinion of Host, constitute a Material Adverse Event respecting the
Facility; and provided further that any such revisions shall comply with at least the minimum
requirements set forth in Host house rules on safety and integrity, California Horse Racing Board
rules or HISA. Any such proposed revision shall be promptly submitted to Host and Host may,
within fifteen (15) days of its receipt of such proposed revision, notify BCL in writing that such
revision will, in the reasonable opinion of Host, constitute a Material Adverse Event respecting
the Facility’s operations, (provided, however, Host shall notify BCL within 24 hours if a proposed
revision is submitted to Host during the week of the Championship) in which event BCL may, at
its option (i) withdraw such proposed revision or (ii) terminate this Agreement with no liability to
either party except that BCL shall reimburse Host for Host’s actual out-of-pocket expenses for the
presentation of the Championship incurred prior to the date of termination. In the absence of such
timmely written notification by Host, such revision shall be deemed effective and binding on the
parties hereto.
ARTICLE 3
ELIGIBILITY AND FEES
3.1, Eligibility

[t is agreed by the parties that horses competing in the Races will be restricted to

Thoroughbred horses, that BCL shall be the sole judge as to whether a horse is eligible to

participate in the Races, and that BCL may refuse the pre-entry or subsequent entry of any horse

if, in BCL’s sole discretion, for any reason, including, without limitation, its association with any
connection (e.g., owner, trainer, jockey) of such horse has engaged in, or become the subject of a
regulatory or law enforcement inquiry or action alleging, conduct that is unlawful, unethical or

may otherwise compromise the integrity of the Breeders’ Cup World Championships or Host;

Page 63




provided, that, (i) Host shall have the right to provide BCL with a list of any owners, trainers and
jockeys who have been excluded from the Facility (“Host Exclusion List”). BCL, after considering
in good faith such list, shall decide whether such persons are eligible to participate in the Races;
(ii) BCL agrees to indemnify Host for any third-party claims in respect of any such refusals; and

(iii) Host agrees to indemnify BCL for any third-party claims in respect of BCL’s compliance with

the Host Exclusion List. Notwithstanding the foregoing, BCL has the option to require the Host

to run an Arabian horse race on either Championship Friday or Championship Saturday in the

Additional Races or BCL may elect to run an Arabian horse race in the Races; provided, however,
that in either case Host shall have reasonable approval rights over such Arabian Race if the running
of such race would be reasonably expected to negatively impact Host’s economics under this
Agreement,

3.2, Fees

The Fees (except for Pre-Entry Fees paid directly to BCL or BCL’s agents) shall be paid
to and collected by Host in accordance with the Fees Collection Guidelines sct forth in the
Standards and for the account of BCL, and Host shall pay over and deliver the Fees (net of required
refunds, if any) to BCL within five (5) business days afier receipt thereof or, at the election of
BCL, the Fees (net of required refunds, if any) may be deducted as an offsct from the sums for
Purse Monies which BCL is obligated to transfer to Host pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof.

ARTICLE 4

PURSES
4.1, Purse Structure
BCL shall provide the Purse Monies to be awarded in connection with the Races. The

individual purse structure for the Races may be revised by BCL in its sole discretion at any time

Page 64




prior to September 1, 2024, and notice of any such revision shall be promptly furnished in writing
to Host; provided, however, that BCL shall consult with Host before implementing any material
decrease in the purse structure for the Races.
4.2. Delivery of Purse Monies

On or before the fourth business day following Championship Saturday, BCL shall wire
transfer to Host, in United States Dollars, in trust for the purposes of this Agreement and to be held
in the segregated Del Mar Race Meet Trust Purse Account, the Purse Monies, less (i) any Fees to
be offset as provided in Section 3.2 hereof, and (ii) BCL’s projection of the Facility Contribution.!

Host further agrees to grant BCL a primary security interest in the funds in such trust
account and to execute such reasonable and customary documents and make such reasonable and
customary filings as ate necessary to perfect the security interest, Host shall immediately notify
BCL in writing if any secondary security interest occurs and Host shall be required to use good
faith commercially reasonable efforts (which shall not include the payment of money) to obtain
from the party seeking the secondary security interest an agreement which provides that BCL’s
security intetest is a primary interest and that BCL is the first lien holder. Host, as trustee of BCL,
shall disburse the 2024 Championship Purse Monies (less taxes and other sums required to be
deducted pursuant to any applicable law) as expeditiously as possible but in no event earlier than
the later of (i) November 15, 2024 if all drug testing on the purse earning horses has been

completed and no positive test occurred, or (ii) the date upon which drug testing on the purse

earning horses has been completed (or otherwise as required by applicable law) in accordance with
the Purse Distribution Rules and Section 8.2(d) hereof and upon the prior written consent of BCL,.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, BCL. may direct the Host to withhold or delay disbursements of an

L0

Page 65




ownet’s Purse Money at the sole discretion of BCL; provided, however, that BCL shall indemnify
Host for any third-party claims in respect of any such withholding or delay direction.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, BCL may direct Host to make such Purse Money payments earlier
than November 15, 2024 on the condition that BCL has previously wired, and Host has received
the balance of such Purse Money payments by providing written notice to Host. If requested by
BCL, Host shall delay disbursement of an owner’s Purse Monies beyond the foregoing date until
such owner presents to Host documents relating to the exemption from or reduction of such
owner’s withholding taxes. Host shall use good faith commercially reasonable efforts to utilize
wire transfer or ACH to disburse 2024 Championship Purse Monies to connections of horses
entitled to such monies that are based outside the United States. It shall be the obligation of Host
to transmit any withheld taxes to appropriate governmental bodies pursuant to any applicable law
and Host shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless BCL for any failure to do so.
ARTICLE 5
CONTRIBUTION
5.1 Contribution

For the privilege of presenting the Championship (and to preclude, in accordance with
Section 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, proscribed inurement of net
income that is associated with the Championship) and in recognition of the benefits provided by

the Championship and the entire BCL. program to the Thoroughbred industry, Host agrees to pay

BCL the Contribution.
5.2. Delivery of Facility Contribution
Host shall use its best efforts to provide BCL the Estimated Facility Contribution within

six (6) weeks following Championship Saturday but no later than eight (8) weeks following

11

Page 66




Championship Saturday in sufficient detail to allow BCL to determine the accuracy of the
calculation thereof. If BCL agrees with the Estimated Facility Contribution determination, it shall
so advise Host and Host shall, within eight (8) weeks following Championship Saturday, deliver
to BCL in United States Dollars ninety percent (90%) of the Estimated Facility Contribution (less
any portion thereof elected by BCL to be deducted as an offset from the sums for Purse Monies
which BCL is obligated to transfer to Host pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof) (the “Initial Facility
Contribution™), with the balance of the Facility Contribution due BCL to be paid by Host on or
before January 31, 2025, unless such date is extended in writing by BCL in its sole discretion. In
the event information within the control of BCL is not provided by BCL to Host in a timely manner
to permit Host to perform the calculations required by this Section 5.2 within the time periods
required hereunder, then such time periods shall be delayed for a period of time sufficient to allow
Host to perform such calculations after receiving the necessary information from BCL. If BCL in
good faith disagrees with Host’s determination of the Estimated Facility Contribution, the Initial
Facility Contribution Payment shall still be paid to BCL within eight (8) weeks following
Championship Saturday, and upon the request of BCL, Host’s accounts and records may be audited
by BCL (or an independent accounting firm selected by BCL) at the expense of BCL. If as a result
of such audit, BCL continues to disagree with Host’s determination of the Estimated Facility
Contribution, the parties shall negotiate in good faith a determination of the Facility Contribution

or the actual Facility Contribution. Lf such good faith negotiations do not result in an agreed

determination of such amount within sixty (60) days after completion of the BCL audit, the amount
of such unpaid Facility Contribution due from Host to BCL shall be determined by binding
arbitration pursvant to the expedited arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association and

paid to BCL. immediately following such binding determination. The obligation of Host to deliver

12

Page 67




the Facility Contribution to BCL shall survive the termination of this Agreement provided Host
presents and conducts the Championship. Regardless of whether there is a dispute over the amount
of the Estimated Facility Contribution, Host agrees to grant BCL timely access to Host’s books

and records in respect of the Championship, including, without limitation, the reports set forth on

Exhibit “D” hereto, Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that good faith negotiations or

the binding arbitration determines that the Host’s Estimated Facility Contribution was lower than :

Five Percent (5%) of the Facility Contribution decided pursuant to negotiations or binding
arbitration, then Host shall reimburse BCL for its related audit, legal and accounting fees.
5.3. Facility Improvement Deposit. Host agrees to make the Facility 1
Improvement Deposit on or before January 15, 2025,
ARTICLE 6

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BCL

BCL hereby represents and warrants to Host, as of the date of this Agreement and at all
times during the Term, as follows:
6.1. Organization and Qualification
BCL is a not-for-profit corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing
under the laws of the State of New York and has full corporate power and authority to enter into
this Agreement and to catry out the transactions contemplated hereby.

6.2. Authorization; Absence of Violation or Defawlé, |

(a)  Allcorporate action required to be taken by BCL to authorize the execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement has been properly taken.
(b)  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and any other

agreements contemplated hereby by BCL and the consummation by it of the transactions

13

Page 68




contemplated hereby and thereby (i) will not violate or require any authorization, consent,
approval, filing or notice under, any provision of any law or order applicable to BCL and (ii) will
not conflict with the charter or bylaws of BCL.
6.3. Disclosure
No representation or warranty by BCL in this Agreement, and no written statement
contained in any document, certificate or other writing, delivered by BCL to Host in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, contains any untrue statement of material
fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements herein or therein, in light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
ARTICLE 7
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HOST
Host hereby represents and warrants to BCL, as of the date of this Agreement and at al
times during the Term, as follows:
7.1. Organization and Qualification
Host is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws
of the state in which it is organized and has full corporate power and authority to enter into this
Agreement and to carry out the transactions contemplated hereby.

7.2. Authorization; Absence of Vielation or Default

(a)  All corporate action required to be taken by Host to authorize the execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement has been properly taken.
(b)  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and any other

agreements contemplated hereby by Host and the consummation by it of the transactions

14

Page 69




contemplated hereby and thereby (i) will not violate or require any authorization, consent,
approval, filing or notice under any provision of any law or order applicable to Host (other than
any necessary approvals of the Host Racing Commission) and (ii) will not conflict with the charter
ot bylaws of Host.
7.3. Proceedings
As of the execution of this Agreement, there is no proceeding instituted or pending or, to
the knowledge of Host, threatened (or unasserted but probable of being asserted) against Host or
the Facility that is reasonably likely to constitute a Material Adverse Event respecting the Facility.
In the event Host becomes aware of any such proceeding after the execution of this Agreement, it
shall give BCL, prompt written notice of the existence of same.
7.4, Compliance with Laws and Other Instruments
Host conducts its business and operates the Facility so as to comply with all applicable
laws, orders, governmental authorizations, licenses, or other proprietary and intellectual property
rights of others, except for any instances of non-compliance that will not constitute a Material
Adverse Event respecting Host or the Facility.
7.5. Labor Relations
As of the execution of this Agreement, Host’s relations with its employees and its service
providers are good and there are no labor difficulties or pending or threatened litigation respecting

Host or the Facility that are reasonably expected to result in a Material Adverse Event with respect

to the Championship or the Facility. As of the execution of this Agreement, Host is not the subject
of any proceeding or is unaware of any such pending or threatened proceeding in which it is
asserted that Host has committed an unfair labor practice (within the meaning of the National

Labor Relations Act or comparable state law) or seeking to compe! Host to bargain with any labor

Page 70




organization as to wages or conditions of employment, nor is there any strike or other labor dispute
involving Host or the Facility that is reasonably expected to result in & Material Adverse Event
with respect to the Championship or the Facility pending or, to the knowledge of Host, threatened,
nor to the knowledge of Host, is there any activity involving employees of Host seeking to cettify
a collective bargaining unit or engaging in any other collective bargaining organizational activity
that is reasonably expecied to result in a Material Adverse Event with respect to the Championship
or the Facility. In the event Host becomes aware after the execution of this Agreement of any such
matters or proceedings regardless of whether Host believes such matiers will have a Material
Adverse Event, Host shall give BCL prompt written notice of the existence of same. Host and
Host’s material vendors, including, without limitation, caterers and concessionaries, have entered
into all collective bargaining agreements applicable to labor at the Facility. Attached as Exhibit
“E” hereto is a list of all collective bargaining agreements and the covered time period of each
collective bargaining agreement with respect to Host and Host’s material vendors. To the extent
any terms, conditions or status of any of the collective bargaining agreements change, Host shall
immediately notify inlwriting BCL of any such changes,

7.6. Sale of Facility

As of the Effective Date only, there are no current or pending significant discussions
regarding the sale or Change in Control of the Host or any related party or Person, including,
without limitation, any and all parent or affiliate companies or the sale of any or all of the Facility
or any other material assets.

7.1. Disclosure
No representation or warranty by Host in this Agreement, and no written statement

contained in any document, cettificate or other writing, delivered by Host to BCL in connection

6

Page 71




with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, contains any untrue statement of material
fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements herein or therein, in light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. To the extent any
representation, warranty or covenant contained herein becomes untrue or materially changes, Host
shall immediately notify BCL in writing,
ARTICLE 8
COVENANTS OF HOST
Host covenants to BCL as follows:
8.1. Simulcasting and Off-Track Wagering; Delivery of Simulcasting Net

Revenue,

(a)  Host covenants that it shall use best efforts to obtain any and all
governmental authorizations required from Host’s jurisdiction by the Horseracing Act and all other
laws, orders and governmental authorizations for the Simulcasting of the Races and the Additional
Races and the wagering thereon within the Territory on or before December 31, 2023, and that all
such governmental authorizations shall be in full force and effect during the Championship.

(b)  Host covenants that it will request at execution of this Agreement and
obtain, on or before December 31, 2023, the written consents of all necessary horsemen groups
required by the Horseracing Act and all other laws, orders and governmental authorizations for the

Simulcasting of the Races and the Additional Races and the wagering thereon to be contested in

2024, which consents (i) will be irrevocable; (ii) will make clear that no deductions other than
statutory and the 2.5% horsemen’s administrative fee payable to the TOC and CTT) will be made
from: (i) the Simulcasting Revenue, (if) revenues from (a) on-track wagering, (b) wagering at

Southern California Off-Track Wageting Facilities on the Races and Additional Races, and (c)

17

Page 72




wagering in the Southern California Advanced Deposit Wagering zone on the Races and
Additional Races for purses to Facility horsemen and (iii) will make clear that all source market
fees and/or market access fees generated for Host on the Races and Additional Races will be paid
to BCL as Simulcasting Revenue. BCL will use commercially reasonable efforts to assist Host to
obtain such horsemen’s consents. Host covenants that such written consents of the horsemen
groups at the Facility shall be in full force and effect during the Championship.

(e) Host covenants to use best efforts to actively pursue the Simulcasting of the
Races and the Additional Races and to generate the broadest possible Simulcasting of the Races
and the Additional Races consistent with industry standards of wagering integrity and security at
a commission rate to Host equal to or greater than fifty percent (50%) of the net commissions
received by the Off-Track Betting Facilities accepting wagers on the Races and the Additional
Races alter payments to bettors and the subject state governmental bodies {except to the extent not
permitted by applicable [aw), including, without limitation, the entty into such contracts (as may
be satisfactory in form and substance to BCL and its counsel) with Off-Track Betting Facilities as
may be necessary to assure maximum participation by Off-Track Beiting Facilities in wagering on
the Races and the Additional Races. Host shall obtain the approval of BCL of the form and
substance of said contracts with Off-Track Betting Facilities prior to submitting said contracts to
said Off-Track Betting Facilities for their execution and shall not enter into any exclusive contracts

for Simulcasting on the Races o Additional Races without the prior written consent of BCL. Host

covenants that it has not entered into (and will not at or prior to the Championship enter into) any
confract (including, without limitation, any contract granting exclusive rights with respect to
Facility simulcasting) which would inhibit or in any way interfere with the Simulcasting and the

broadest possible Simulcasting of the Races and the Additional Races, Host covenants to have in

18

Page 73




place by no later than October 25, 2024 internet capabilities with the bandwidth to reasonably
accommodate most patrons at the Facility so that most patrons may wager over the internet via
their mobile devices while at the Facility. Host shall develop (in consultation with BCL) on or
before May 1, 2024, a listing of all Off-Track Betting Facilities to be solicited by Host (and such
list shall include all Off-Track Betting Facilities that Host has done business with in the last twenty-
four (24) months}) and shall, as reasonably requested by BCL, add to or delete from said listing of
Off-Track Betting Facilities to be solicited for Simulcasting. Following the development of such
listing, Host covenants to report the results of such solicitation to BCL every fourteen (14) days
ot, if any such reporting day is not a business day, the first business day thereafter, So long as Host
complies with all of the requirements set forth in this Section 8.1(c), Host may have the
Simulcasting contracts executed by Host’s simulcast purchase and sales agent, Monarch Content
Management LLC.

(d)  Host covenants o use best efforts {(which best efforts shall not include the
requirement to commence litigation) to collect, within eight (8) weeks following the
Championship, all Simulcasting Revenue and will submit weekly reports to BCL describing the
efforts being taken and the results thereof beginning within one (1) week following the
Championship, until such time as all Simulcasting Revenue has been collected or until BCL agrees
in its reasonable judgment that collection efforts may be discontinued. Notwithstanding the

provisions of Section 5.2 hereof, Host agrees to pay over and deliver to BCL all Simulcasting

Revenue as a component of the Contribution within five (5) days after receipt by Host but in no
event later than the date six (6) weeks after the Championship. Any amounts not paid to BCL on
a timely basis as described in this Section 8.1(d) shall be subject to the lesser of (i) a per annum

service charge of eighteen percent (18%) (compounded on a monthly basis) or the highest possible

Page 74




interest rate allowed by law. Following the Championships, Host agrees that it will not
subsequently permit any Off-Track Betting Facility that has not paid to Host all unpaid
Simulcasting Revenue to process wagers on horse races conducted at the Facility.

(e)  Simulcast Revenue. Host shall pay to BCL one hundred percent (100%) of
the Simulcasting Revenue received pursuant to such Simulcasting arrangements within and outside
the Territory as part of the Contribution pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement
and in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.1(d) hereof, The obligaticn of Host to deliver
the Simulcasting Revenue to BCL shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

9] On-Track ADW. Notwithstanding anything contained hetein, to the extent
wagering occurs via Advanced Deposit Wagering by a resident of California on the Races,
Additional Races, and imported simulcast signals while the resident of California is present at the
Facility, one hundred percent (100%) of such revenue (at the increased Host Track takeout
percentage) shall be treated as on-track pari-mutuel handle in the calculation of Facility Net
Revenue. BCL and Host shall work in good faith with each other to determine a commercially
reasonable strategy to try to require Advanced Deposit Wagering providers to geo-locate non-
California residents at the Facility and include any such wagering by such non-California residents
as on-track pari-mutuel handle in the calculation of Facility Net Revenue.

(g)  California Off-Track Handle. Wagering on the Races and Additional Races

oceurring at Southern California Off-Track Wagering Facilities and any fees related to wagering

on the Races and Additional Races occurring at Northern California Off-Track Wagering Facilities
shall be treated as on-track pari-mutuel handle in the calculation of Facility Net Revenue, To the
extent any rules ot regulations are amended with respect to (i) the Northern California Off-Track

Wagering Facilities or (ii) Advanced Deposit Wagering in the Northern California Advanced

20

Page 75




Deposit Wagering zone which permit a portion of such wagers to be allocated to Host then: (i)
such portions from Northern California Off-Track Wagering Facilities shall be treated as on-track
pari-mutuel handle in the calculation of Facility Net Revenue; and (ii} such portions from
Advanced Deposit Wagering in Northern California Advanced Deposit Wagering zone shall be
treated as Simulcasting Revenue,

(h)  Host covenants that on Championship Friday and on Championship
Saturday, for the period beginning thirty (30} minutes prior to the first Race on each day and
continuing through the conclusion of the last Race on each day, it will not conduct at the Facility
simulcast presentations of, and will not accept wagers on, races from other race tracks unless
written consent for such simulcast presentations and wagering theteon has been granted in writing
by BCL (which consent may be withheld by BCL in its sole discretion) and if BCL consents to
such'simulcast presentation then wagering revenue on such simulcast presentations shall be treated
as on-track pari-mutuel handle in the calculation of Facility Net Revenue. On Championship
Friday and Championship Saturday, BCL agrees that Host may conduct at the Facility simulcast
presentations of, and accept wagers on, races from other race tracks after the conclusion of the last
race at the Facility on each day or as permitted by BCL in writing, The wagering on such simulcast
presentations shall be treated as on-track pari-mutuel handle in the calculation of Facility Net
Revenue,

(i) Host acknowledges and covenants that Host shall timely enter into non-

exclusive contracts with advanced deposit wagering companies (and those companies shall
include, without limitation, XpressBet, Betfait/TVG, NYRA Bets, TwinSpires and such other
advanced deposit wagering companies reasonably necessary to maximize simulcast revenue) to

permit such advanced deposit wagering companies to exercise the right to process wagers on the

2]

Page 76




Races and Additional Races on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday. If requested
by BCL, Host covenants to use its best efforts to enter into non-exclusive contracts permitting
exchange wagering on the Races and Additional Races; provided, however, that such wagering is
approved by the applicable horsemen’s group and governmental authority.

() If requested, Host covenants to use its best eftorts to obtain a waiver of any
requirement to pay excise taxes relating to the Races and Additional Races as set forth on Exhibit
ol S

8.2, Permits and Agreements; Conduct of Championship in Accordance
with Law.

(a) On or before December 1, 2023 Host covenants to use its good faith
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain authorization for racing dates for the Championship to
be held on November | and November 2, 2024. On or before August 31, 2024, Host covenants to
use its good faith commercially reasonaeble efforts to receive any and all permits and other
authorizations as may be necessary to present the Races and the Additional Races on
Championship Friday and Championship Saturday at the Facility in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement and any and all laws. If Host has not obtained any and all such
authorizations and such permits on or before August 31, 2024, BCL may terminate this Agreement
by providing written notice to Host at any time thereafter until such time as those authorizations

and permits are obtained. If BCL does not terminate this Agreement, Host shall provide BCL with

updates at reasonable intervals informing BCL of the then current status of ebtaining such
authorizations.
(b) Host shall (i) promptly seek such additional approvals, rule variations,

waivers, racing dates and any other governmental authorizations, including approval of the State

22

Page 77




Race Track Leasing Commission, as may be required to so present the Races and the Additional
Races in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and (ii) obtain racing dates
and all other such additional approvals, rule variations, waivers and any other governmental
authorizations as may be so required, including, without limitation, those set forth on Exhibit “G”
hereto. Host covenants to request any and all conditions of entry and seek any and all related
consents, including, without limitation, the horsemen consent and the California Horse Racing
Board consent with respect to any medication stipulations, including, without limitation,
conditions of entry and all other house rules (so long as such conditions of entry or house rules do
not otherwise violate applicable laws), and steroid prohibitions requested by BCL., Host shall
notify BCL that it has so secured such racing dates and such other additional approvals, rule
variations, waivers and any other governmental authorizations promptly afier receipt thereof.
Moreover, Host covenants to provide BCL a status update, by May 1, 2024, regarding racing and
non-racing (e.g., temporary structure permits) permits and authorizations necessary to present the
Championship as set forth herein, including any permits or authorizations that have been denied
or are anticipated to be denied.

{c) Host covenants to use good faith commercially reasonable efforts to obtain,
on or before August 31, 2024, any and all governmental authorizations permitting the specialized
Championship wagering format for both on- and off-track wagering, including, without limitation,

necessary waivers to permit Championship bet types, minimum runner standards, coupling/entry

rules, takeout rates and other matters as requested by BCL, which governmental authorizations
shall be acceptable in form and substance to BCIL. and its counse! and, once obtained, shall be in
full force and effect during the Championship. If Host has nol obtained any and all such

authorizations on or before August 31, 2024, BCL may terminate this Agreement by providing

23

Page 78




written notice to Host at any time prior to Host receiving such authorizations. If BCL does not
terminate this Agreement, Host shall provide BCL with updates at reasonable intervals informing
BCL of the then current status of obtaining such authorizations,

(d)  Host further covenants to use good faith commercially reasonable efforts to
have in effect prior to January [, 2024 (other than Local 280), such contracts with applicable
representatives of employees or contractors of Host and the Facility including, without limitation,
any and all collective bargaining agreements as may be necessary to ensure the presentation of the
Championship without interruption or disturbance of the racing program by any and all
labor/management disputes. If Host has not obtained any and all such authorizations on or before
January 1, 2024 (othet than Local 280), BCL may terminate this Agreement by providing written
notice to Host at any time prior to Host receiving such authorizations., If BCL does not terminate
this Agreement, Host shall provide BCL with updates at reasonable intervals informing BCL, of
the then current status of obtaining such authorizations.

(e)  Apart from determinations respecting satisfaction of the Standards (which
determinations shall be within the sole authority of BCL), Host covenantis that it shall be solely
responsible for conducting the Championship in compliance with any and all applicable laws and
orders, including, without limitation, determinations respecting the issuance and validity of
credentials, including, without limitation, licenses to owners, trainers and other participants in the

Races and the Additional Races, the entry of horses, the running of the Races and the Additiona!

Races, the determination of winners and the placing of finishers in the Races and the Additional
Races, compliance with any withholding or other obligations respecting taxes and the Simulcasting

of the Races and the Additional Races. Purse distribution with respect to the Races, as determined

24

Page 79




by BCL in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, shall be made on the official order of
finish as determined exclusively under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Facility is located.

3] Host covenants that the Facility shall be accredited by the National
Thoroughbred Racing Association’s Safety and Integrity Alliance and such accreditation shall be
in place on the dates of the Championship.

(8)  Notwithstanding the deadlines set forth in Section 8.2, Host shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to secure all necessary approvals, consents and permits as soon
as reasonably possible,

8.3. Additional Races,

(a)  Host covenants that it shall schedule the Additional Races in 2024 on both
Championship Friday and Championship Saturday, the purses for which are included in the
Operating Budget. "Host and BCL covenant to work in good faith to establish Additional Races
which shall maximize wagering and improve the quality of Championship Friday and Saturday.
The numbet, distance, type, purses, starting position, fees and conditions for the Additional Races
shali be established by Host and submitted to BCL for its approval no later than July 1, 2024;
provided, however, that Host shall schedule five (5) Additional Races on Championship Friday
and three (3) Additionaf Races on Championship Saturday which are approved by BCL. The
purses for the Additional Races shall be provided by Host, but shall be eonsidered an expense of

the Championship for purposes of calculating Facility Net Revenue (i.e., such purses shall be

included in Facility expenses in the Operating Budget) so long as such purses are not funded from
the horsemen’s purse account. The Additional Races shall be arranged and scheduled by Host and
approved by BCL and shall be compatible with the Championship racing program, and none of

such races shall be scheduled within the time frame of the television coverage to be provided by

25

Page 80




the licensee of BCL without the prior written consent of BCL (which consent may be withheld by
BCL in its sole discretion). Host covenants to use its commetcially reasonable efforts to recruit
horses for the Additional Races, including, without limitation, coordinating recruiting with BCL
representatives, provided that Host shall not be responsible for payment of any financial or other
recruitment incentives. From the Effective Date through the end of 2024, Host shall consult with
BCL (including by providing copies of its condition books) and exercise good faith efforts to not
conduct races that would directly conflict with the Additional Races.

(b)  Host covenants that BCL shalf retain all commercial sponsorship rights to
the Additional Races (in addition to the Races) and Host shall not sell any commercial
sponsorships to the Additional Races without the prior written consent of BCL (which consent
may be withheld by BCL in its sole discretion).

84, Condition and Preparation of the Race Courses.

(2) Host covenants to use its best efforts to see that the turf course and main
track at the Facility shall be fresh and in excellent repair and condition for the racing to be
conducted thereon on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday, Host further covenants
that for the Championship (i) the Facility turf course and the main track shall be prepaved in such
a fashion to malke the racing surface safe, consistent and unbiased, (ii) the Facility turf course shall
be prepared in such a fashion so that it is consistent with international turf championship racing

conditions; and (iii) the composition of either the Facility turf course or main dirt track shall not

be changed in any significant manner without the prior written consent of BCL. Host covenants
that it will not schedule races at the Facility with conditions similar to those of any of the Races
for the two (2) weeks ptior to and for the two (2) weeks immediately following the Championship.

BCL shall have the right to apptove, in its sole and absolute discretion, the race cards each day

26

Page 81




during Championship Week to assure that no damage is done to the turf course or the main track.
Host covenants that it will conduct racing on its turf course during its Fall 2024 meet in such a
manner as to preserve the condition of the turf course and specifically the portion of the turf course
which begins at the zero-rail position and extends to the 24-foot mark. Specifically, Host will run
all turfraces, including turf stakes, with the temporary rail at twenty-four (24) feet (or the Facility’s
normal distance) rather than on the inside zero-rail position during the two (2) week period prior
to the Championship. Additionally, Host will restrict the number of statters in such turf races to
twelve (12) or less. Host covenants that it shall not conduct nor permit any entertainment or other
activities within one hundred twenty (120} days prior to the Championship which could damage
the turf course or main track. None of the races scheduled to be run on the turf on Championship
Friday or Championship Saturday shall be rescheduled for any other surface without the prior
written consent of BCL (which consent may be withheld by BCL in its sole discretion), unless the
California Horse Racing Board stewards deem it unsafe for horses to run on the tutf course. Unless
otherwise approved by BCL, Host covenants to provide a single finish line for both the main track
and the turf course at the Facility. Host covenants that the main tracl, turf course and stable area
at the Facility will be available from the date three (3) weeks prior to Championship Friday through
the date ten (10) days following Championship Saturday for training and stabling of any and al!
horses intended to be entered in the Races and Additional Races, and Host covenants to use best

efforts to accommodate any horses which cannot feasibly be shipped from the Facility on or before

the date ten (10) days following Championship Saturday; provided, however, that BCL
acknowledges and agrees that (i) Host cannot guarantee the availability of the Facility prior to
Sunday, October 26, 2024 (with the exception of the Quarantine Facility being sealed for a month

prior to the Championships and horses being permitted to ship in on Saturday, October 27, 2024)

27

Page 82




and (ii) for any incremental costs incurred by Host in the event that Host is required to take
possession and open the Facility prior to the Normal Opening Date of its Fall Meet in order to
satisfy its obligations hereunder shall be included in the Facility Net Revenue calculation,

(b)  BCL shall be solely responsible for any incremental costs incurred by Host
in the event Host is required to take possession and open the Facility prior to the start of its fall
meeting in order to satisty its obligations hereunder.

(c)  Host covenants to make the main track and turf course at the Facility
available for inspection(s) by an independent third party designated mutually by BCL. and Host, to
assure the condition and safety of the main track and turf course, upon reasonable notice by BCL,
and that the condition of the main track and turf course shall be acceptable to the satisfaction of
BCL’s third party designee. Host agrees to negotiate in good faith with BCL to implement
reasonable .changes at the sole cost and expense of Host to its main track and/or turf course
recommended by such thied-party designee to assure the condition and safety of such racing
surfaces such that the condition of the main track and twrf course are similar to the conditions
occurring at the 2021 Breeders’ Cup World Championships.

(d)  Host agrees to provide BCL access to the InCompass Jockey Injury
Database and the InCompass Equine Injury Database for the Facility during the Term and BCL
shall use the information contained therein for its internal purposes only.

8.5. Equine Facilities; Equine Drug Testing.

(a)  Host covenants to cause to be located at the Facility or at a location
approved by BCL, not later than thirty (30) days priot to Championship Friday, and to be operated
as necessary thereafler through the date ten (10) days following Championship Saturday, fully

approved and accredited quarantine and jsolation facilities in which horses arriving from other

28

Page 83




countries may be accommodated. The quarantine facilities shall be suitable to accemmodate such
horses unti] duly released by the appropriate governmental bodies of the United States and the
state in which the Faeility is located for racing at the Facility, without the necessity of such horses
remaining in quarantine subsequent to importation at some other location. Host shall provide the
quarantine and {solation facilities in the areas at the Facility identified on Exhibit “H.” The
quarantine and isolation facilities in such areas shall meet all requirements of applicable law
(including, without limitation, the requirements of the state in which the Facility is located and the
tnited States Department of Agriculture). Host agrees to accommodate the shipping and training
schedules of such horses. Further, in the event the horses are prevented by applicable state or
federal rules and regulations from training within the quarantine facilities, Host shall timely
provide quarantine facilities which contain a walking area satisfactory for horses to utilize prior to
being released from the quarantine facilities. The quarantine facilities must be capable of
accommodating the segregation of at least six (6) separate shipments of horses without delaying
the training schedule of the earlier arriving horses. Facility expenses for the quarantine facilities
reflected in the Operating Budget shall not include the portion of Facility quarantine expenses
incurred with respect to horses running in races other than the Races.

(by  Host covenants to make available for the presentation of the Races and the

satisfaction of its obligations hereunder the entire premises of the Facility with the sole exception

of such areas (e.g., a portion of the Facility stable areas) as may be required for Thoroughbred

racing at the Facility prior to and following the Championship. In that regard, Host covenants to
make available at the Facility a minimum of 175 stalls (in addition to the stalls in the above-
referenced quarantine and isolation facilities) in sprinklered, full security BCL barns for use by

horses which are shipped to the Facility for the purpose of competing in the Races and the

29

Page 84




Additional Races. Such stalls in the barn shall be in close proximity to one another. All such stalls
shall be available to such Thoroughbred horses for three (3) weeks prior to Championship Friday
and for ten (10) days after Championship Saturday, with ready access to media representatives
approved by BCL and other personnel approved by BCL; provided, however, that BCL
acknowledges and agrees that (i) Host cannot guarantee the availability of the Facility prior to
Normal Opening Date (with the exception of the Quarantine Facility being sealed for a month prior
to the Championships and horses be permitted to ship in on Sunday, October 27, 2024) and (ii)
any incremental costs incurred by Host in the event that Host is required to take possession and
open the Facility prior to the Normal Opening Date of its Fall Meet in order to satisfy its obligations
hereunder shall be included in the Facility Net Revenue calculation. Host covenants to provide
twenty-four (24) hour security beginning on Tuesday, October 29, 2024 at 11:00AM (Pacific
Time) f01"each horse competing in the Races, at least equal to the highest race track industry
standard, including services by the agency or agencies designated by BCL , for all such barns
designated as BCL barns at the Facility during Championship Week, and, with respect to any
quarantine facilities referred to in Section 8.5(a) hereof, for so long as any such facility is occupied
by a horse entered for a Race. Hbst also covenants to provide twenty-four (24) hour security
beginning forty-eight (48) hours prior to first post for each horse competing in the Additional
Races as per requirements for horses competing in the Races. Host covenants to provide a twenty

(20) stall race day assembly barn in close proximity to the racetrack at the Facility for the exclusive

use of entrants in the Races on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday. In addition,
Host agrees to provide a test barn capable of accommodating ten (10} horses walking at the same

time with no less than six (6) stalls for post-race drug testing.

30

Page 85




{¢c)  Host covenants to provide, if and to the extent that room is available in
existing dormitories on the Facility backside, accommodations at the Facility during
Championship Week, mutuafly agreeable in eondition and number, for grooms and other
backstretch personnel caring for horses pre-entered or entered in the Races.

(dy  Host covenants that the quarantine and isolation facilities, barns and
backside accommodations for grooms and other backside personnel shall be in good repair and, to
the extent that work is required to bring such buildings into good repair, such work shall be
completed and reasonably satisfactory to BCL no later than October 1, 2024,

(¢)  Host agrees to implement house rules, if requested by BCL, requiring
trainers of horses pre-entered in the Races to utilize official Breeders’ Cup saddle towels each and
every time a pre~entered horse goes to the Facility racetrack during Championship Week.

H In order to provide for emergency medical treatment for the horses
competing in, and training for, the Races and Additional Races, Host covenants to provide at least
three (3) equine ambulances, which must have technological features at least as sophisticated as
those of the equine ambulance manufactured by Kimzey Welding Works, Inc. of Woodiand,
Californta. During morning workouts of Championship Week, Host shall have an equine
ambulance pulled by a truck and continually staffed by a driver in close proximity to the track and
have veterinarians on hand. In addition, Host agrees to seeure access to an equine trauma facility

acceptable to BCL within a reasonable distance from the grounds of the Facility.

{g)  Host covenants that it will use available drug testing tools and methods
which can best assure that the Races and the Additional Races are conducted in compliance with
applicable law and race conditions and will have available split blood and split urine samples in

connection with such testing, the cost of such testing not funded by the Host Racing Commission

31

Page 86




ot other sources to be included in the calculation of Facility Net Revenue. Drug testing in
accordance with this Section 8.5(g) shall be conducted on a minimum of the first four (4) finishing
horses and at least one (1) extra, as determined by the Stewards, in each Race. In addition to the
foregoing, Host covenanls to cooperate with racing regulatory authorities in pre-race testing for
total carbon dioxide to be conducted on all horses participating in the Races. Host covenants to
cooperate with racing regulatory authorities so that all blood and urine samples collected from
horses compeling in the Races shall be collected in sufficient volumes so that samples may be
preserved for future analysis. Further, Host covenants to cooperate with racing regulatory
authorities in pre-race, out-of-competition testing to be conducted on up to one hundred (100)
percent of potential Breeders’ Cup participating horses or horses that have been pre-entered.

(h)  BCL and Host may by mutual agreeinent implement race conditions or other
rules respecting the use of medications in the Races and/or the Additional Races, subject to
approval of regulatory authorities.

8.6. Media Access and Coverage.

(8)  Host covenants to work in good faith with BCL to develop plans (subject to
final approval of BCL) designed to present the Championships in a fashion which will create
maximum publicity and media exposure for the entire BCL program, and the Thoroughbred
industry in general, in order to increase interest in and attendance at Thoroughbred racing events

throughout the world

(b)  BCL is a party to an agreement with NBC Universal under the terms of
which NBC Sports Network and/or NBC Network has agreed to telecast Breeders’ Cup World

Championships races, which expires following the 2024 Breeders’ Cup World Championships.

32

Page 87




Both BCL and Host agree to use their best efforts to work together in good faith with NBC
Universal with respect to the production and telecast of the Breeders’ Cup World Championship.
{c}  Host covenants to cooperate in good faith with BCL, its agents and
employees, in the negotiation for and provision of television, radio and other media coverage of
the Championship, and to do each and every thing reasonably required to assure the successful
promotion and broadest coverage of the Races. In addition, to the extent such rights are the
property of Host, Host grants to BCL any and all commercial broadcast, television, cable, pay,
satellite, and other television, radio, Internet and media rights and privileges (subject to the receipt
of any approval required by law which Host shall use best efforts to obtain) in and to the promotion,
communication and commercial exploitation of the Races and the Additional Races. Host
covenants to cooperate in good faith with such marketing and promotional persons and agencies
as BCL may designate in its efforts to market and promote BCL, the Championship, the Property
Rights and the Thoroughbred industry in general, and to secure the widest possib]e media coverage
thereof. Host covenants to cooperate with and to assist media licensee(s) or BCL’s designee(s) in
the provision of media coverage of the Championship and the Additional Races. Host covenants
to grant non-exclusive access to BCL’s selected industry television network to produce a simulcast
show and a pre-event “worls™ show and to cooperate and assist such industry television network
in connection with the provision of television coverage relating to the Championship. Host further

covenants that, except as authorized or permitted under the terms of this Agreement, it will not

permit the presentation of depictions or recordings of the Races for viewing of whatever nature
(including, without limitation, any local television programming featuring Facility races) without
the prior express written consent of BCL o its primary television licensee (which consent may be

withheld by BCL or its television licensee in their sole discretion); provided, however, that the

33

Page 88




foregoing shall not restrict the Simulcast of the Races and the Additional Races to Off-Track
Betting Facilities. Host covenanis to make available to BCL and its licensees and to assist as
requested by BCL during Championship Week in the use of any of the Facility’s video rooms and
related facilities. Host covenants to provide such facilities and accommodations at the Facility
during the period from October 23, 2024, through November 3, 2024, as BCL may in its discretion
require for BCL’s television licensees.

(dy  Host covenants that the starting times of the Races, and the presentation of
the Races, shall be consistent with the goals set forth in Section 8.6{a) above, and consistent with
any television schedule required by any national network, cable or other entity designated by BCL
1o Lelevise the Races. Host covenants that it shall adjust the starting times for the Races as may be
directed by BCL to accommodate any such television schedule, and covenants that the time
schedule for the Races shall be strictly followed.

{e) Host covenants to provide ready access to BCL staff members, BCL
television licensee(s) and all other media representatives to areas of the Facility in accordance with
the Championship Credentials Guidelines set forth in Exhibit “I” hereto. BCL has the right to
credential or exclude all media representatives in its sole discretion and BCL shall decide specific
areas of the Facility that media representatives are entitled to visit or are prohibited from visiting.
Host further grants BCL the right to designate the positioning of any temporary electronic message

boards (e.g., Jumbotrons) at the Facility in order to remove any obstruction or impediment to

BCL’s desired media coverage of the Championship.
)] Host covenants that BCL shall have final approval regarding the selection

of a race caller for both the on-track and broadcast call of the Races. Host further covenants to

34

Page 89




have an announcer acceptable to BCL in its sole discretion other than the aforesaid race caller
available for on-track comments between the Races and/or to call the Additional Races.

(g)  Host covenants to provide appropriate facilities in good condition for
members of the media on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday as directed by BCL.
Host shalf provide a minirnum of 200 work stations in its press boxes for the local, national and
international media covering the Championship and provide a press facility for photographers
containing no less than 75 work stations. In addition, Host agrees to provide a media facility for
post-Races interviews on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday with a minimum
seating capacity of 35 persons and will also provide a backstretch/morning workout media area.
Host agrees that all of the facilities described in this section shall be fully operational beginning
Sunday, October 27, 2024, and remain operational and in good condition throughout
Championship Week. Host covenants that BCL will have final approval of all press area designs
and on the accreditation of, and the assigned seating locations for press members.

8.7. Trophy Presentations

Host covenants to provide within its trackside winnet’s circle at the Facility space and
circumstances, suitable in the reasonable judgment of BCL, for the awarding of trophies or other
prizes by BCL and its sponsors following each of the Races and Additional Races. Host covenants
to provide an adequate number of qualified personnel approved by BCL necessary to assist in the

conduct and staging of the awards presentation in conjunction with BCL’s television licensee(s),

5o as to provide unimpeded television coverage of such presentations.
8.8. Marketing and Sponsorship.
{a)  Host covenants to cooperate in good faith and consult in good faith with

BCL and its designee(s) which shall conduct marketing programs specifically designed to promote

35

Page 90




the Championship, BCL and BCL’s other events in the Facility market area. Such marketing
program shall be developed in consultation with Host and shall include, without fimitation, daily
Championship marketing (making use of the Championship logo designed pursuant to Section 9.3
of this Agreement) in the programs at the Facility during the years preceding the Championship,
it being understood that all of sueh promotions shall refer to the Championship sponsors if such
promotion does not result in a conflict with a Host spensor. BCL and Host acknowledge the
importance of continually promoting BCL, the BCL Challenge Series, the BCL Dirt Dozen, the
2022 World Championships, the 2023 World Championships, and the 2024 World Championships
significantly in the years before and after Championship Week, and Host covenants to promote
such events through such marketing efforts as set forth on Exhibit “F* hereto with the approval of
BCL as set forth herein with respect to each individual promotion. Host shatl permit BCL to
temporarily install video cameras in consultation with Host throughout the Facility, subject to the
reasonable consent of Host, for purposes of producing and distributing f-mcillzu'y content, including,
without limitation, virtual reality, augmented reality, 360 degree cameras, and social media
cameras.

(b)  Host covenants that BCL shall have final approval of, and the right to
designate placement of, (i) all advertising, publicity, promotional and other marketing or digital
materials relating to BCL, the Championship, including, without limitation, any and all

handicapping publications (distributed for free or sold), and all related official BCL programs, (ii)

locations, programming and scripting for the post-position draw for the Races, press conferences
and other media or promotional events and (iif) programming and scripting for electronic message
boards to be used at the Facility on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday. Host

covenants that it will not sell or place advertising or promotional material in official BCIL.

36

Page 91




programs, any official BCL publications or locations, including media information books,
horsemen’s information guides, press center materials, ticket folders, any simulcast signal
distributing the Races or the [ilce.

(c) Host agrees that BCL shall retain all sponsorship rights to the
Championship and that the Facility will be a clean venue on Friday November 1, 2024 and
Saturday November 2, 2024, free of all marks and advertising, including, without limitation,
alcohol displays and branding, except as directed by BCL in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Host shall work in good faith with BCL, including, hiring a third party to remove
existing signage throughout Championship Week with all existing signage to be removed before
Championship Friday in order to accommodate sponsor signage of BCL to be in place by no later
than Championship Friday through efforts of Host. Host and BCL acknowledge that Host or a
third-party desighee will put up signage as directed by BCL throughout Championship Week so
that all BCL sponsor signage will be in place on Championship Friday and Championship
Saturday. BCL shall work in good faith to put up all competing sponsorship signage late in
Championship Week but Host acknowledges and agrees that certain signage will be in place prior
to Championship Friday. The actual costs associated with making the Facility a clean venue, free
of all marks and advertising, shall constitute expenses of the Operating Budget,

(d)  Host recognizes that BCL has granted, and may hereafler grant, license

sponsorship rights to one or more firms in connection with the Championship and understands that

these sponsors of BCL will have certain promotional rights during Championship Week, including,
without limitation, Championship Friday and Championship Saturday under their agreements with
BCL. Host covenants to reasonably assist BCL in its Championship sponsorship activities

2

including placement of sponsors’ promotional signage and displays in accordance with the

37

Page 92




Commeicial Signage Specifications set forth in Exhibit “K* hereto. Host agrees that BCL or its
representatives may erect signage at any time during Championship Weelk in all areas of the
Facility, including the stable area, so long as such activity does not materially interfere with racing
at the Facility. Host further covenants that it will not permit the display of signage at the Facility
other than signage approved by BCL from Sunday, October 20, 2024, through Championship
Saturday. Both BCL and Host may display their sponsors’ signage at the Facility on Sunday,
November 3, 2024 and so long thereafter as commercially reasonable in order to remove the BCL
sponsor sighage. Host shall announce all names of each Race as directed by BCL which name
may include the name of a sponsor.

(¢)  If BCL enters into a sponsorship agreement with a local sponsor whose
principal business is in California through an introduction from Host, then any sponsorship
revenue attributable to the 2024 year shall be allocated towards the Operating Budget and any
expenses associated with such sponsorship agreement for the 2024 year shall be an expense of the
Operating Budget, Should BCL at the request of Host provide an infroduction to an existing BCL
sponsor during the Term of this Agreement and Host subsequently enters into a sponsorship or
promotional agreement with such BCL sponsor, Host agrees to pay BCL a commission equal to
tifteen percent (15%) of the net dollar amount of the fee paid to Host by such BCL sponsor during
the Term. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the net dollar amount shall not be less than seventy-five

percent (75%) of the gross amount paid. Should Host at the request of BCL provide an introduction

to an existing Host sponsor duting the Term of this Agreement and BCL subsequently enters into
a sponsorship or promotional agreement with such Host sponsor, BCL agrees to pay Host a
commission equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the net dollar amount of the fee paid to BCL by such

Host sponsor during the Term. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the net dollar amount shall not be

38

Page 93




less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the gross amount paid. It is unclerstood that this Section
8.8(¢) shall not be construed to diminish Host’s obligation to provide a clean venue for the
Championship as set forth in Section 8.8(c) above.

D Host agrees that BCL’s Affiliate, Breeders® Cup Charities, Inc., and any
charity beneficiaries of BCL that are approved by Host in writing and in advance, which approval
shalt not be unreasonably withheld, may have access to Facility public areas during Championship
Weel for the purpose of erecting and operating a reasonable number of booths (the number and
location of which shall be subject to Host’s advance written approval) in pursuit of their charitable
purposes.

(g)  Host agrees that designated representatives of BCL’s sponsors may have
access to the Facility during normal business hours (or otherwise as requested by BCL) during
Championship Week for the purpose of erecting sponsor areas for use during the Championship
and the like; provided, however, that such activities do not materially disrupt the conduct of the
fall racing meet at the Facility during such week.

8.9. Hospitality.

(a)  Hostcovenants that BCL shall have final approval of the schedute of official
Championship events and Host agrees to coordinate official events and functions with BCL so as
to provide the best possible first-class atmosphere for the Championship for the period beginning

on the date two (2) weeks prior to Championship Friday and continuing through the date one (1)

week fotlowing Championship Saturday; provided, however, that the official BCL cvents
occurring at the Facility after Championship Saturday shall be scheduled by mutual agreement of
the paities in good faith. In addition, during such time periods, Host, including 22" DAA, agree

to not to schedule events at the Facility that may conflict with the setup or execution of the

39

Page 94




Championship. Host covenants that BCL may hang paintings or racing photographs during
Championship Week throughout the Facility, including, without limitation, in suites and dining
areas.

()  Hostacknowledges and agrees that the ability to deliver a first class, premier
international event (as represented by the venue, hospitality, and service in the 2017 and 2021
Breeders’ Cup World Championships), including, without limitation, first class hospitality and
service is valuable to the BCL brand, including, without limitation, the ability of BCL to sell tickets
to future BCL events. Host covenants to use best efforts to deliver a furst class, premier
international event. Host covenants to provide to BCL status updates as set forth in Exhibit “L”
hereto in order to ensure BCL that Host is on schedule to deliver a first class, premier international
event, and such updates shall include, without limitation, the following: (i) VIP and horsemen
hospitality, (ii) food and beverage quality and delivery, and (iii) parking and traffic management.
Host covenants to immediately 'notify. BCL of any changes or delays which would affect the
required progress as set forth in Exhibit “L” or would affect Host™s covenant to deliver a first class,
premier international event,

(¢)  Host, working in cooperation with elected officials and leaders of the state
and region where the Facility is located, agrees to establish a local host committee, whose primaty
purpose will be to conduct, financially support and promote a series of events leading up to the

Championship to create an exemplary experience for attendees of and participants in the

Championship. Membership, financial support, duties and responsibilities of the local host
committee shall be jointly determined by BCL and Host. Host shall use best efforts to ensure that

such local host commiltee supports and promotes the Championships.

40

Page 95




(d) Host covenants to provide hospitality areas free of charge at the Facility for

BCL’s use, including, without limitation, space and dining facilities of first-class type and quality
as shall be acceptable to BCL. Such hospitality areas, which includes, without limitation, the
Enclosure and Champion’s Terrace, shall be for the exclusive use of BCL, its sponsors, guests and
designees. 1t is understood that BCL may design, decorate and upgrade such areas set aside for
BCL’s exclusive use in its sole discretion. The cost of (i) decorating/upgrading/constructing these
areas and returning them to their original configuration shall be included as an expense in the
calculation of Facility Net Revenue. BCL shall also be permitted to construct a chalet to use as
the “Trophy Lounge” and BCL may host sponsors, potential sponsors, and other guests of BCL at

no charge. The cost of the chalet and the food and beverage (without markup if by the track

caterer) shall be included as an expense in the calculation of Facility Net Revenue.  Host
covenants to provide a toasting aréa for the connections of the horses winning each of the Races
which will accommodate up to fifty (50) guests at a location designated by BCL and the costs of
any build out and food and beverage shall be included in the Operating Budget. The hospitality

areas for BCL and Host shall consist of the seats, space and dining facilities listed on Exhibit “M.”

|
i
|
I
|
i
!

Admission and reserved seats ticket prices and bundling and the like are set forth in Exhibit “N”
to this Agreement and may be changed at the request of BCL, but may not be changed by Host

without the prior written approval of BCL (which approval may be withheld by BCL in its sole

discretion),

(¢)  Host agrees to assist BCL in providing ample space for a handicapping
tournament during the Championships by which players will pay an entry fee set by BCL (entry
fee has historically been $10,000) and make live wagets on the Championships with the chance of

winning a prize pool (the prize pool is a portion of the entry fee set aside by the decision of BCL)

41

Page 96




known as the Breeders’ Cup Betting Challenge (the “BCBC”) during the Championships as
directed by BCL. Host shall host, conduct and operate the BCBC based on the good faith direction
and rules from BCL and BCL shall indemnify, defend and save harmless Host pursuant to Section
12.2 hereof. Host is required to create a registration webpage (which registration page shall
include the various Advanced Deposit Wagering Companies that BCBC participants may wager
through) for the BCBC. All costs associated with developing the aforementioned webpage for the
BCBC, including the registration webpage, shall be included in the Facility Net Revenue
calculation.

4] To the extent that Host utilizes temporary seating or hospitality areas that
are also utilized during Host’s race meet immediately preceding or following the Championships,
the cost of such temporary facilities shall be altocated between Host and BCL on a pro l‘ata: basis
and the portion attributable to the Championship shall be included in the calculation of Facility
Net Revenue.

(g)  Host covenants that credential assignment and distribution shall be subject
to the prior approval of BCL in its sole discretion. Host covenants that it will not issue
complimentary tickets or passes of any type for Championship Friday or Championship Saturday
without the prior written consent of BCL, which consent may be withheld by BCL in its sole
discretion. BCL will reimburse Host the value of all complimentary tickets or passes that it uses

except for complimentary tickets and passes provided to (i) owners, trainers, breeders and jockeys

of starters in the Races and the Additional Races and (ii) up to fifty (50) tiekets for broadcast
partners, including, without limitation, NBC and other companies involved in distributing and
broadcasting coverages of the Races (the “Media Partners”). Payments from BCL for

complimentary tickets shall be included in the calculation of Facility Net Revenue.

42

Page 97




Notwithstanding the foregoing, unsold ticket inventory for grandstand reserved seating may be
distributed by BCL after October 13, 2024, on a complimentary basis for promotional purposes
without reimbursement. Unsold tickets may be used for charitable and promotional purposes as
determined by mutual agreement of the parties.

(h) Host covenants that prices to be charged by Host or Facility caterers,
vendors, and agents for concessions and food and beverages sold clirectiy to consumers on
Championship Friday and Championship Saturday shall be determined by BCL., The 22™ District
Agricultural Association shall be entitled fo retain an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the
net revenue (defined as gross revenue less cost of goods and direct labor attributable to sales)
generated from walk-up food and beverage concessions during the Championship, subject to a cap
on such retention of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000). To the extent that food and
beverages provided by Host’s proprietary catering entity are included in Championship ticket
prices ot served in the media hospitality area, the View, Champions Terrace, or via meal passes to
backside worlkers as consistent with the 2021 Breeders’ Cup World Championships or such other
activations agreed to between Host and BCL, such food and beverages shall be included in the
calculation of Facility Net Revenue at the actual cost of goods sold plus direct labor and taxes
without any additional markup or profit margin, To the extent BCL utilizes Host’s proprietary
catering entity for training and orientation event, the draw or other race related e¢vents and meals

~ for BCL staff or consultants, such meals shall be at the actual cost of gaods sold plus direct labor

and taxes without any additional markup or profit margin. All profit on any food and beverages
sales, including, without limitation, general concessions, shall be accounted for in the calculation
of Facility Net Revenue. Host agrees to facilitate a meeting or meetings between BCL and Facility

caterer(s) to discuss the provision of services and products by the caterer(s). Host agrees to cause

43

Page 98




its and Facility caterer(s)’s proposed menus and pricing schedule for the Championship to be
submitted to BCL no later than October 15, 2024. Host and Facility caterer(s) agree to host a menu
tasting event for BCL and its designees no later than March 1, 2024, Host agrees that BCL shali
have the right to approve menus to be offered to patrons during the Championships. Host agrees
to cause Facility caterer(s) to (i) serve brands designated by BCL, including brands produced or
promoted by BCL’s sponsors and (ii) to not serve brands specifically designated by BCL. BCL,
may, at its option, in consultation with Host, designate an “Official Chef or Chefs of the
Championships” during the Championship for the purpose of creating menus and supervising
catering in designated areas. BCL may cause an independent chef or food service provider,
selected by BCL and approved by Host in good faith, to provide food and beverage service in the
breakfast marquee and any and all other areas designated on Exhibit “O” at the Facility on
Championship Friday and Championship Saturday. BCI, shall be permitied to cause an
independent chef or food service provider, selected by BCL to provice food and beverage services
in all temporary structure areas, including, without limitation, the breakfast marquee. BCL may
also designate celebrity chef5 to assist Host or its designated caterer for all other food and beverage
services at the Facility, Host covenants that it currently is not a party to any contracts (except for
contracts reached by collective bargaining) that would limit the ability of BCL to utilize a guest
chef or food service provider to provide food and beverage service as set forth in this section of
the Agreement. Host further covenants that it will not enter into such a contract without the prior
— consentof BCL. By no later than December 15, 2024, Host shall use best efforts to have Facility
caterer provide to BCL a detailed analysis of food and beverage sales which analysis shall include,
without limitation, the following: (i) gross sales per location; (i) net sales per location; (i)

amounts and types of specific items sold or consumed per location; (iv) specific brands purchased

44

Page 99




or consumed (for example, Host sold 600 bottles of Veuve Cliquot champagne in Turf Club) per
location; and (v) labor and additional equipment costs.

(i) Tickets to be given for free or sold to owners, breeders, trainers and jockeys
of starters in the Races and the Additional Races (the “Horsemen™) and Media Partners (“Hold
Tickets™) will be identified by BCL and shall be placed in a hold status until scats are assigned
after entries close and will not be available for sale during the sales periods described in Exhibit
“P”.  Should either BCL or Host assign a hold status to tickets, other than Hold Tickets and not
release them for sale prior to the Advanced Sales Period, the party placing such tickets on hold
will be responsible for paying for these seats if they are not sold to a third-party. Such payments
for these held tickets shall be included in the calculation of Facility Net Revenues. If requested by

-BCL, Host covenants to expedite advance ticket sales and distribution of tickets for the
Championship. Tickets for Championship Friday and Championship Saturday must be shipped to
ticket purchasers not earlier than ninety (90) days nor later than thirty (30} days prior to
Championship Friday via the shipping service selected by BCL in its sole discretion. Host
covenants to provide adequate facilities, including, without limitation, internet access for all ticket
booths and will call areas and staff for ticketing as may be requested by BCL. Host agrees to
provide the services and‘ staff necessary to make sales proactively to group purchasers. Host
agrees, if requested by BCL, to make all sales through BCL’s preferred selection for an electronic

ticketing application and to enter into agreements with vendor(s) for the provision of services

related to online/back-office sales and/or customer call center support. In the event that BCL
requites the use of an online and back-office ticket sales system other than the ticketing system
utilized by the Facility on a day-to-day basis, BCL agrees that, except for hardware or

infrastructure items, any incremental costs incurred by Host in connection with the adoption of the

45

Page 100




BCL applicaticn (e.g., creation of seat maps) shall be included in the Operating Budget, Host shall
"send any unused tickets for the Championship to BCL no later than ten (10) days after the
Championship.

() If requested by BCL, Host agrees to implement security procedures
identified by BCL that will provide for efficient and secure ingress and egress by patrons to the
Facility.

(k)  Host covenants to provide such seating and admission as BCL may request
for BCL sponsors and network representatives on Championship Friday and Championship
Saturday, but BCL shall pay the cost of these tickets in accordance with Section 8.9(d) hereinabove
to the extent such costs are not excluded pursuant to the terms and conditions contained herein.

] Host shall submit to BCL for its approval no later than May 1, 2024, a teaffic
control plan and shall negotiate in good faith any changes to such plan suggested by BCL. Host
shall aflocate no less than One Thousand Four Hundred (1,400} parking spaces at the Facility for
BCL’s exclusive use. The BCL Parking Requirements are set forth in Exhibit “Q” to this
Agreement,

(m) If requested by BCL, Host covenants to prepare, print and distribute, in
cooperation with BCL, for Championship Friday and Championship Saturday special
Championship racing programs and shall provide BCL and each sponsor of BCL, as determined

by BCL, sponsored race page identification and one free page within such programs; provided that

BCL and such BCL sponsors shall deliver camera-ready artwork to Host for production of such
program acknowledgements not later than the date four (4) weeks prior to Championship Friday.
Host covenants to procure the written approval of BCL for all details of such Championship

programs. If requested by BCL, Host will distribute programs to patrons on Championship Friday

46

Page 101




and Championship Saturday free of charge, with the cost of the programs being included in the
Operating Budget.

(n)  Host covenanis to provide ample pari-mutuel capacity, trained personnel,
and self-service mutuel devices in order to assure the comfort, efficiency and convenience of
Facility patrons on Championship Friday and on Championship Saturday with the specific
understanding that the ratio of mutuel devices to patrons shall be at least one mutuel device (either
operated by a clerk or self-service) per forty (40) patrons and that such mutuel devices shall be
strategically placed to minimize wait times, if any, and to maximize the on-track pari-mutuel
handle at the Facility on both days. Host covenants that its pari-mutuel system and totalisator
board on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday will be able to accommodate fourteen
(14} uncoupled wagering entries in each of the Races and Additional Races and vertical, hotizontal
and multi-day exotic wagers on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday. Host
covenants that BCL shall be a third party. beneficiary, or otherwise liave the benefit of any Host
tecovery, under Host’s conitact with its tote company to the extent BCL suffers any damage as a
result of the failure or malfunction of Host’s tote system (in addition to the insutance coverage
pursuant to Section 14.2); provided, however, that any such recovery related to on-track pari-
mutuel wagering shall be accounted for as Facility Gross Revenues and shared by Host and BCL
accordingly. Host agrees that all wagering through sclf-service mutuel devices at the Facility shall

be on-track wagers and shall not be placed through any advanced deposit wagering entities.

(0)  Host will use best efforts to work with District to provide ample automated
teller machines (“ATM”) at the Facility in order to assure the comfort, efficiency and convenicnce
of Facility patrons to withdraw cash from bank accounts during the Championships. Any and all

fees, royalties and other revenue attributable to the ATMSs shall be included in the Facility Gross

47

Page 102




Revenues for purposes of calculating the Facility Contribution. Host shall use best efforts to
provide BCL a detailed analysis of wagering activity, including, without limitation, (i) wagering
revenue per terminal per area within the Facility and (ii) labor costs.

(p)  Host covenants that Facility’s caterer(s) will provide sufficient trained
personnel, supplies and equipment to assure that Facility concessionaires meet the needs of Facility
patrons on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday in accordance with the highest
standards of customer service. BCL and Host agree to cooperate in good faith to resolve any
customer service issues related to food and beverage service. Host and the Facility caterer(s) agree
that a staffing and service location. plan shall be submitted to and approved by BCL no later than
August 1, 2024,

(99  Host covenants that no construction or plant renovation will occur at the
Facility that will in any way impair the aesthetic presentation, operational efficiency or customer
service of the Championship and/or during Championship Week. Host acknowledges that BCL
may request that the 22™ District Agricultural Association either (i} not have Scream Zone at the
Facility or (ii) work quickly to takedown Scream Zone prior to October 25, 2024 and the
incremental costs related to taking down Scream Zone shall be included in the Facility Net
Revenue calculation,

(r)  Host covenants to provide such facilities and accommodations at the

Facility during the period from October 4, 2024, through November 5, 2024, as BCL may in its

reasonable discretion require for BCL staff. Such facilities and accommodations shall include (i)
previously used workspace known as Mission Tower or space for a minimum of two (2) triple-
wide trailers and four (4) single-wide trailers in the stable area or other location designated by

BCL at the Facility, together with a minimum of twenty (20) reserved parking spaces in close

48

Page 103




proximity to such trailets; (ii) space for three (3) double-wide trailer in the television compound
at the Facility, (iii) space for two (2) single-wide trailers and a separate rest room facility within
the fenced areas of the quarantine facility at the Facility; and (iv) electric, telephone and high speed
[nternet service at all trailers.

(s) Host covenants to provide space at the Facility acceptable to BCL for the
placement and operation of a “Trackside Brealcfast Marquee™ during Championship Weelk. To the
extent certain temporary structures and chalets, including, without limitation, the Breakfast
Marquee require buildout and construction times longer than the three (3) weeks set forth in
Section 8.9(a), Host shall provide such space required for such buildouts free and clear of any
other events or obstacles for a period of up to five (5) weeks prior to Championship Friday for the
construction and buildout of such chalets and temporary structures consistent with the practices at
the 2017 Breeders” Cup World Championships.

® Host agrees to conduct a minimum of six (6} handicapping tournaments
during 2024 by which contestants will qualify to participate in the 2024 Breeders® Cup Betting
Challenge and will make best efforts to conduct such tournaments on the days of Breeders® Cup
Challenge Races being conducted at the Facility.

8.10.  Operating Budget

The parties acknowledge that the Operating Budget set forth in Exhibit “B” is a

preliminary operating budget that reflects the categories for revenues and expenses in the operating

budget for the Championship. The parties shall, by mutual agreement and in good faith, revise the
Operating Budget prior to September 15, 2024 to reflect refined budget estimates, including,
without limitation, the establishment of specific revenue and expense amounts and a staffing pfan

with detailed backup support for the plan. Host shall also provide a complete detailed general

49

Page 104




ledger report to BCL on a monthly basis beginning November 1, 2024 and at additional intervals
at the request of BCL and both parties shall review and sign off on such ledger to the extent both
parties are in agreement. If both parties are not in agreement, both parties shall work in good faith
to timely resolve any discrepancies and if both parties cannot reach such agreement then both
parties will engage in the arbitration process set forth in Section 5.2 hereof. Host and BCL shall
provide sufficient detailed back-up support to substantiate any expenditure set forth in the general
ledger report that is requested by BCL. No expenditures will be made which would result in
negative variances in actual expenses for the Championships without the prior written consent of
(i) the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Operating Officer of BCL, and (ii} Chief Operating Officer
or Chief Financial Officer of Host. The parties covenant that, without both prior written consents
set forth above (which consents may be withheld by each respective party in their reasonable
discretibn), no expenditures will be made which would result in actual expenses for the
Championship exceeding the projected expenses in the Operating Budget. In the event any such
expenditures are made without obtaining both prior written consents, the party responsible for the
expenditure shall be solely liable for such expenditure. In the event any such expenditures are
made and both consents are obtained, the expenditure will be included as an expense in the
calculation of Facility Net Revenue. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if BCL elects to make
additional expenditures that are not approved by Host as set forth herein, then BCL shall be entitled

to any and all revenue resulting from such additional expenditures.

The prior written consents of (i) the Chief Executive Officer or Senior Vice President of
Operations of BCL and (ii) Chief Operating Officer or Chief Financial Officer of Host shall be in
the form of an “Expense Approval Worksheet,” a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “R.”

It is expressly understood that Host’s full-time labor costs, except for over time related to the

50

Page 105




Championship, shall not be included in the Operating Budget and only houtly, incremental labor
costs may be included in the Operating Budget to the extent such incremental labor costs are above
and beyond ordinary labor costs and are directly related to the Championships and such
incremental labor costs are detailed in writing, including, without limitation, the scope, type and
time of work and such work and costs are approved by BCL. It is further understood that Host
covenants to cooperate in good faith with BCL in the planning and execution of the expenditures
contemplated by the Operating Budget, including reasonable revisions to the allocations of
expenses set forth in Exhibit “B.” Host and BCL covenants that they will pay all expenses
identified in the Operating Budget in accordance with the terms of the expense invoice or, if the
expense is invoiced by BCL, within thirty (30) days of receipt of the BCL invoices unless
otherwise agreed in writing by BCL, For any Championship expenses initially paid by BCL for
which BCL requests reimbursement from Host, BCL will provide copies of third party vendor
invoices, or in the case of allocated costs from BCL, explanation of the allocation accompanied by
a reasonably sufficient level of backup to support the charges. For any Championships expenses
paid by Host, Host shall maintain a copy of all invoices and provide such invoices to BCL upon
request. Any expense included in the Operating Budget and incurred by Host in carrying out its
obligations pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered an expense of the Championship for
purposes of calculating Facility Net Revenue,

8.11.  Totalisator Security

Host covenants to have in place, at least one (1) month prior to Championship Saturday,
security measures at least equal to the race track industry standard in order to protect wagering
information and the integrity of the wagering process with respect to all the races to be presented

at the Facility on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday. In addition, Host covenants

51

Page 106




to use its best efforts to cause (i) its totalisator provider and (ii) each Off-Track Betting Facility
with whom Host has a Simulcasting contract, to have in place, at least one (1) week prior to
Championship Friday, security measures at least equal to the industry standard totalisator security
measures in order to protect wagering information and the integrity of the wagering process with
respect to all the races to be presented at the Facility on Championship Friday and Championship
Saturday.
8.12.  Treatment of Funds
Host covenants that it will maintain separate interest-bearing trust accounts into which
funds resulting from ticket sales, simulcasting and the like will be maintained until the
Contribution is remitted in full to BCL, and Host shall provide BCL evidence thereol no later than
Novernber 1, 2024, Funds in these accounts may be used to make expenditures that are set forth
| in the Operating Budget or that are approved pursuant to Section 8.10. The funds in such aceounts
shall be invested in a manner that is mutually agreeable to the parties. Interest carned on the funds
in such accounts shall be included in the Operating Budget. Host further agrees Lo grant BCL a
primary security interest in the funds in such accounts to secure payment of the Contribution and
to execute such documents and make such filings necessary to perfect the security interests.
8.13.  Takeout on Pari-mutuel Wagers. Host covenants to have in place for
the Championships takeout rates on pari-mutuel wagers on Championship Friday and

Championship Saturday at the Facility that are mutually agreeable to the parties and

consistent with applicable law.
ARTICLE 9
PROPERTY RIGHTS AND LICENSE

9.1. Ownership of Properties

52

Page 107




BCL now owns and controls, and shall continue to own and control, and Host shall not,
by virtue of this Agreement or the relationship between the parties created hereunder, acquire any
interest in, or tights in or to, the Championship, the Races, the Properties or the Property Rights
(except to the [imited extent expressly provided in Section 9.4 below). BCL shall have, and hereby
retains, the exclusive right to all the Properties and the Property Rights. BCL shall, with respect
to the Championship, retain and shail have the sole and exclusive right to exercise all the Property
Rights.

9.2. Merchandise Licensing and Sales

Host acknowledges that BCL has the exclusive merchandising rights for BCL-
trademarked merchandise and the exclusive right to license certain Persons to produce gpeciai
BCL-trademarked merchandise. During Championship Week, BCL and its licensees shall have
the exclusive right to sell (directly or indirectly) BCL trademarked merchandise at the Faeility at
designated locations which are acceptable to BCL in its sole discretion. BCL shall receive all
revenue from the sales of BCI. trademarked merchandise. Host covenants to provide adequate
storage areas at the Facility for the BCI-trademarked merchandise during Championship Week.
Both Host and BCL merchandise may be on display at the Facility during Championship Week,
during which time Host agrees fo provide BCL a minimum of fifty percent (50%) of the shelving
and display space within the Clubhouse gift shop and a portion of Mission Tower for the sale of

BCL-trademarked merchandise which space(s) are consistent with the space assigned to BCL

during the 2024 Breeders’ Cup World Championships. BCL shall receive all revenue from the
sales of BCL trademarked merchandise in the Facility gift shop. The Facility gift shop shall remain
open at a minimum from 8 AM to 5 PM for business each day during Championship Week.

9.3. Creation of Championship Logo

53

Page 108




BCL will use commercially reasonable efforts to create, by June 1, 2024, a logo, symbol,
or design in connection with the Championship utilizing the Property Rights in conjunction with
the name and the likeness of the Facility. Host grants to BCL a non-exclusive, royalty-free license
to use the Host Marks for the sole purpose of promoting the Championship and the BCL program,
which use shall include, without limitation, use of the Host Marks on promotional items, Any
material developed by BCL which utilizes the Host Marks shall be submitted for Host’s prior
approval of such material and the intended use thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably
conditioned, delayed or withheld. If Host does not respond within fourteen (14) days, such
submission shall be deemed approved. BCL shall, however, retain sole and exclusive ownership
of any logo, symbol or design so created (and which shall be used solely for the purpose of
marketing and promoting the Championship and the BCL program), and hereby grants to Host a
limited license o utilize any such logo, symbol or design for the sole purpose of marketing and
promoting the Championship such limited license to be granted from the Effective Date through
Championship Week in 2024. Except as provided herein, any commercial use of said logo,
symbol, or design by Host without the express prior written approval of BCL is prohibited.
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as granting a license to Host to prodtice, purchase or
otherwise obtain merchandise to be sold to the public or as granting to Host the right to develop
or create any logo, symbol or design utilizing the Properties or the Property Rights.

9.4, License of BCL Marks

BCL granis to Host for the period beginning from the Effective Date through
Championship Week in 2024, a non-exclusive, royalty-~free license to use the BCL Marks, with no
right to sub-license the BCL Marks, for the sole purpose of promoting the Championship and the

BCL program. Any material developed by Host which utilizes the BCL Marks shall be submitted

54

Page 109




to BCL for its prior written approval of such matetial and the intended use thereo! (which approval
may be withheld by BCL in its absolute discretion), Nothing herein shall be construed as granting
a license to produce merchandise.
ARTICLE 10
RELATIOCNSHIP BETWEEN PARTIES
10.1. Relationship Between Parties
The relationship between Host, on the one hand, and BCL on the other, is that of
independent contractors, This Agreement does not establish a joint venture, agency, or partnership
between the parties. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each party shall choose
the means to be employed and the manner of carrying out its obligations. Each party shall have
the sole responsibility for the supervision and payment of its personnel and, except as agreed to in
writing, all other costs and expenses required to perform its obligations. Notwithstanding anything
in this Agreement to the contrary, neither party shall have the authority or the ability to bind the
other (whether contractually or otherwise).
ARTICLE 11
TERMINATION
[1.1.  Termination
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Agreement may be

terminated:

(a) By the mutual written agreement of BCL and Host;
(b} By BCL or Host if any covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement
shall not be kept or performed by the other party in any material respect and such material failure

or breach is not reasonably capable of being remedied or, if capable of being remedied, such failure

55

Page 110




or breach shall not be remedied within thirty (30) days after such party shall have received written
notice thereof from BCL or Host;

(©) By BCL or Host if any representatibn or warranty or other statement of fact
by the other party contained herein or heretofore or hereinafter given by such other party in
connection with this Agreement shall at any time be materially inaccurate or materially misleading
or shall at any time omit a material fact necessary to make such representation, warranty, or
statement not misleading;

(d) By BCL if Host shall suffer a Bankruptcy Event, Material Adverse Event
or a Change in Control, or if the Facility shall suffer a Material Adverse Event;

{e) By BCL in the event of a change in the personnel occupying the positions
set forth on Exhibit “T* such that it may reasonably be perceived by BCL to cause Host to be
unable to present and conduct the Championships in the manner contemplated by this Agreement;

® By BCL in the event any action is taken by any governmental body that
results in the occurrence of a Matetial Adverse Event with respect to Host’s ability to present the
Races and Additional Races on Championship Friday and Championship Saturday at the Facility
in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement or to perform all the covenants of
Host set forth in this Agreement;

(g} By BCL any time, if the Facility main track and/or tuef course are not in the

condlition required by BCL in its sole but reasonable discretion pursuant to Section 8.4;

(h) By BCL on or before July 1, 2024, if the updates provided by Host as set
forth in Exhibit “L” do not support that Host will deliver a first class, premier international event

in the reasonable discretion of BCL pursuant to Section 8.9(a) hereof;

56

Page 111




() By Host if BCL shall suffer a Bankruptcy Event or a Material Adverse
Event;

)] By BCL or Host in the event of the tepeal or material amendment of any
law or order applicable to the presentation and/or Simulcasting of races at the Facility or the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(k) By BCL if by December 31, 2024, the Host Racing Commission shall not
have adopted equine medication regulations consistent with the most cutrent recommendations of
the Racing Medication & Testing Consortium, provided that BCL may extend the deadline in this
section without waiving the right to terminate hereundey;

Q)] By BCL, if the Host’s state government modifies California Business &
Professional Code Section 19605.74 ( “Section 19605.74”) , or otherwise modifies BCL rights
granted pursuant to Section 19605.74;

(m) By BCL, if the Host’s state government requires any transfer of ownership
rights for owners of horses participating in the Championship:

(n) By Host if BCL elects to run three or more Races over two separate
weekends;

(o) By BCL by no later than August 15, 2024 if BCL has not secured (i) an
adequate number of hotel rooms in North San Diego County at the appropriate facilities and at

price points satisfactory to BCL; or

(p) By either Host or BCL if the State Race Track Leasing Commission has not
approved this Agreement on or before May 1, 2023.

11.2. Termination of BCL Option for Years 2026, 2027 or 2028

57

Page 112




Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement and solely with respect to the option
granted to BCL set forth in Section [5.12 hereinbelow, such option shall automatically terminate
in the event the State Race Track Leasing Commission does not exeicise ils option to continue the
Del Mar Race Track Operating Agreement with Host through December 31, 2030,

ARTICLE 12
INDEMNIFICATION
12.1. BCL Indemnification

Host agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless BCL and its Affiliates and the
members, directors, officers, employees and agents of BCL and its Affiliates (collectively, the
“BCL Indemnified Persons”), from all Adverse Consequences which may be imposed upon,
incurred or suffered by or asserted against BCL and which arise, in whole or in part, directly or
indirectly frorm: (i) any misrepresentation, breach of warranty or non-fulfillment or
nonperformance of any agreement, covenant or condition on the patt of Host to be performed,
complied with or fulfilled under this Agreement; (i) any acts of employees, agents, servants or
officers of Host in connection with the operations conducted by Host during or in connection with
the Championship; (iii) any claims relating to the Facility, any equipment utilized in connection
with the Facility or facilities provided for the use of patrons, invitees or employees of Host or the
Facility; (iv) any proper exercise by BCL of any rights granted to BCL by Host under this

Agreement, including, without limitation, in Article 9 hereof; and (v) any proceedings or orders

incident to any of the foregoing.
12.2. Host Indemnification
BCL agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless Host and its affiliates, and the

members, directors, officers, employees and agents of Host and its affiliates (collectively, the

58

Page 113




“Host Indemnified Persons”), from all Adverse Consequences which may be imposed upon,
incurred or suffered by or asserted against Host and which arise, in whole or in part, directly or
indirectly from: (i) actions taken by Host in strict accordance with the Eligibility Requirements
and the Field Selection Methodology; (ii) any misrepresentation, breach of warranty or non-
fulfillment or nonperformance of any agreement, covenant or condition on the part of BCL to be
performed, complied with or fulfilled under this Agreement; (iii) any acts of the employees, agents,
servanis, or officers of BCL or its Affiliates in connection with the Championship, including the
operations conducted at the Facility in connection with the Championship; (iv) any proper exercise
by Host of any rights granted to it by BCL under this Agreement, including, without limitation, in
Article 9 hereof; and (v) any proceedings or orders incident to any of the foregoing.
12.3.  Indemnification Procedure.

(a)  Ifany claim or action is threatened, asserted or commenced against a BCL :

Indemnified Person or a Host Indemnified Person (each, a “Claim™), BCL or Host, as applicable,
shall give written notice to the other paity promptly after receipt of such Claim, If such party
receiving notice is obligated under Sections 12,1 or 2.2 to defend the party against such Claim,
then the indemnifying party shall take control of the defense and investigation of the Claim, in
consultation with the other party (provided that the indemnifying party may make all final
decisions, subject to the other terms of this Section [2.3), using such attorneys and other assistance
as-it selects-in-its reasonable discretion. The indemnified party shall cooperate-in-all reasonable — |
respects in such investigation and defense, including trial and any appeals, The indemnified party

shall be entitled to prompt reimbursement for all out-of-pocket expenses reasonably incurred by it

in connection with such cooperation, No settlement of a Claim that imposes any obligation or

59

Page 114




liability on the indemnified party shall be agreed to and entered without the consent of the
indemnified party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

()  Itisnota condition precedent to recovery under this Article 12 for any party
to first seek a contractual, statutory, or common law remedy against the other party in order to give
notice of a Claim. No party is under any obligation to pursue any claims against the other party.

ARTICLE 13
FORCE MAJEURE
13.1.  Force Majeure
In case any parly to this Agreement fails to perform any of its obligations hereunder and
such failure is for reasons beyond the control of that party, including without limitation, because
of an act of God, inevitable accident, fire, boycott, loss of power, or an act of a public enemy, riot,
war, terrorism, inclement weather, equine disease, human pandemic, injunctions or other
interference through legal proceedings or to any causes beyond the control of such party, such
failure shall not be deemed to be a violation by such party of its obligations hereunder, but such
party shall use due diligence to put itself in position to carry out all of its obligations hereunder.
If an event of force majeure causes Host to be unable to present any of the Races or Additional
Races on Championship Friday or Championship Saturday, Host agrees that, if directed by BCL,
it will present such of the Races and Additional Races as were unable to be presented on Sunday,

November 3, 2024, Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 13.1 cannot be relied upon to

excuse any failure to perform any act required by Section 8.1 or 8.2 hereof.
ARTICLE 14
INSURANCE

14.1. Host Insurance

60

Page 115




Host agrees to cause BCL, its officers, agents, employees and licensees, to be included as
additional insured parties under Host’s commercial general liability and business interruption
insurance policies as their interests may appear for the Championship and any activities relating
thereto for the Term. Host shall provide BCL with a certificate of insurance demonstrating
compliance with this section by February 1, 2024,

14.2, Event Insurance

Upon a request from BCL, Host has the right to and agrees to purchase event cancellation
insurance with mutually agreeable coverages and policy limits after good faith consultation with
BCL relating to the Championship to be in effect no later than August 1, 2024. BCL shall be named
an additional insured on the policy and shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the
Contribution pursuant to the Operating Budget. The cost of such insurance shall be included in
the Operating Budget and will be considered a Facility expense for purposes of calculating Facility
Net Revenue. The proceeds of such insurance, if any, shall be included in the Operating Budget
and will be considered Facility Gross Revenue for purposes of calculating Facility Net Revenue.
In addition, Host agrees to purchase tote failure insurance with a policy limit of no less than Ten
Million Dollars ($10,000,000) with BCL and Host as the named insured to be in effect no later
than August [, 2024. The cost of such insurance shall be included in the Operating Budget and
will be considered a Facility expense for purposes of cafculating Facility Net Revenue. The entire

proceeds of such insurance, if any, shall be allocated to BCL and Host consistent with other

provisions of this Agreement. If requested by BCL, Host agrees to purchase insurance policies in

lesser amounts.

61

Page 116




ARTICLE 15

MISCELLANEOUS

15.1. Deliveries and Notices

Any deliveries, notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be

deemed to have been duly made or given (i) if delivered in person, (ii) if sent by cettified or

registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, (iii) if sent by a nationally recognized

overnight courier or (iv) if sent by faesimile transmission, to the addresses or facsimile numbers

of the parties as follows:

BCL:

with a copy to:

Host:

with a copy to:

Breeders’ Cup Limited

Attn: Drew Fleming

215 West Main Street, Suite 250
Lexington, Kentucky 40507
Email: Drew{@Breederscup.com

Sarah Reeves

Stoll, Keenon Ogden, PLLC

300 West Vine Street, Suite 2100
Lexington, Kentucky 40507

Email: Sarah.Reeves@skofirm.com

Del Mar Thoroughbred Club
Attn: Josh Rubinstein

2260 Jimmy Durante Boulevard
Del Mar, California 92014
Email: josh@dmte.com

Chris Jaczko
Procopio, Cory, Hargreaves & Savitch LLP
12544 High Bluff Drive, Suite 400

SanDiego, CA- 92130

Email: chris jaczko@procopio.com

or to each party, at such other address or facsimile number as may hereafier be designated by such

party in a written notice to the other parties complying as to delivery with the terms of this Section.

All such notices, requests, demands and other communications shall be deemed to have been given

62

Page 117




(i} on the date received if personally delivered, (ii) two business days following the date deposited
in the mail if delivered by mail, (iii) on the next business day following the date sent by overnight
courier if delivered by overnight courier or (iv) the date sent by email if delivered by email before
5:00 ET on a business day (otheiwise on the next succeeding business day).
15.2. Waivers
No waivers or failure to insist upon strict compliance with any obligation, covenant,
agreement or condition of this Agreement, or delay in exercising any right, power or privilege,
shall operate as a waiver of, or an estoppel with respect to, any subsequent or other failure.
153,  Expenses
Each party shall assume as incurred and pay its own legal, accounting and other expenses
incurred in comnection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement except as otherwise
provided in Article 12 hereof,
154.  Headings and Countefparts
The headings in this Agreement have been included solely for ease of reference and shall
not be considered in the interpretation or construction of this Agreement. This Agreement may be
executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. In the event one or more of said counterparts
are executed by facsimile transmission the parties agree to provide non-facsimile counterparts of

this Agreement immediately thereafter,

15.5,  Exhibits
The Exhibits to this Agreement are incorporated by reference and expressly made a part
of this Agreement.

15.6.  Entire Agreement; Modification

63

Page 118




This Agreement (including all Exhibits) contains a final, complete and exclusive
Agreement of the parties pertaining to its subject matter and supersedes all prior written and oral
agreements pertaining hereto. Except as expressly provided in Sections 2.2 and 4.1 hereof (giving
BCL the unilateral right to make certain modifications hereto), no modification or waiver of any
provision of this Agreement and no consent by any party to any departure therefrom shall be
effective unless such modification or waiver shall be in writing and signed by all parties, and the
same shall then be cffective only for the period and upon the conditions and for the specific
instances and purposes specified in such writing. The rights and remedies provided are cumulative
and not exclusive of any rights or remedies otherwise provided by law,

15.7. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue

This Agreement and any disputes hereunder shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, without reference to its prineiples
of conflicts of law or choice of law. The parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionully agree that
the Circuit Courts of Fayette County, Kentucky and/or United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Kentucky sitting in Lexington, Kentucky shall be the sole proper venue for the
resolution of any cl.isputes, claims or proceedings regarding the obligations and liabilities of any
party under this Agreement and the parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waive any right
to a determination of any such proceedings by a court in any other venue and agree not to plead or

claim that any such proceedings brought in the Circuit Coutts of Fayette County, Kentucky and/or

the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky sitting in Lexington, Kentucky
have been brought in an inconvenient forum, The parties hereto further agree that service of
process by any judicial officer or by registered or certified U.S. mail in accordance with the

provisions of Section 15.1 hereof, shall establish personal jurisdiction over such parties and such

64

Page 119




parties waive any rights under the laws of any state to object to jurisdiction within the
Commonwealth of Kentucky.

15.8,  Binding Effect

This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties and their respective successors, assigns,

and any other transferee; provided, however, that this Agreement shall be deemed strictly personal
to Host and that accordingly Host may in no fashion mortgage, encumber or assign this Agreement
or any part hereof.

15.9.  Severability

In case any section or provision of this Agreement, or any covenant, agreemennt,

stipulation, obligation, act or action, or part thereof, made, assumed, entered into or taken under
this Agreement, or any application thereof, is held to be illegal or invalid for any reason, or is
inoperable at any time, that illegality, invalidity or inoperability shall not affect the remainder
thereof or any other section or provision of this Agreement or any other covenant, agreement,
stipulation, obligation, act or action, or a part thereof, made, assumed, entered into or taken under
this Agreement, all of which shall be construed and enforced at the time as if the illegal, invalid or
inoperable portion were not contained therein. |
15.10.  Confidentiality

The parties hereto covenant to keep the terms of this Agreement in the sirictest confidence
except to the extent that either may be reasonably required to disclose certain information pursuant |
to any law or order. The parties further agree to honor and maintain the confidentiality of any
confidential, secret or proprictary information as may be so designated and disclosed by any party
hereto.

15.11. Survival of Covenants.

65

Page 120




Any provision hereof which by its terms has or may have application after the expiration,
terminations cancellation or forfeiture of this Agreement (including, without limitation, all of
Host’s and BCL’s indemnity obligations as set forth herein) shall be deemed to survive such

expiration, termination and cancellation or forfeiture.

15.12.  Option for 2026, 2027 or 2028 Breeders’ Cup World Championships
Host hereby grants to BCL an option to cause Host to present the 2026, 2027, or 2028
Breeders’ Cup World Championships on and subject to the same terms and conditions as contained
in this Agreement; provided, however, that this option shall only be exercisable by BCL to the
extent Host continues as the operator of Thoroughbred racing at Del Mar following the current
term of the Del Mar Race Track Operating Agreement which expires on December 31, 2025.
Subject to the foregoing and subject to Section }1.2, BCL may exercise this option by delivering
written notice of the exercise of the option to Host on or before March 15 of the year that is two
years prior to the year for which the option is exercised. For purposes of clarity and by way of
example only, in the event BCL desires to exercise its option to have Host conduct the 2026
Breeders® Cup World Championships, BCL would be required to provide written notice to Host
not later than March 15, 2024,
15,13, Key Personnel.

Host agrees to timely inform BCL of any personnel changes in the positions with Host

and/or the Facility set forth on Exhibit “S.”

66

Page 121




IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the partics hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed

by their respective duly authorized officers, all as of the day and year first above written.

C EKLIMITED

4

s

BREEDERS

/

B

President & Chief Executive Officer

DEL MAR THOROUGHBRED CLUB

y:
.[%ew Fleming s

O

Josh Rubinstein
President & Chief Operating Officer

67

Page 122




EXHIBIT "A"

FACILITY CONTRIBUTION FORMUL A

For the privilege of presenting the BCWC, Del Mar
Thoroughbred Club (“Del Mar™) will pay to Breeders” Cup
Limited (“BCL") a contribution consisting of the following
elements:
{a) The first $600,000 of Facility Net Revenues is to be
paid to the 22" District Agricultural Association as a
facility lease.
(b) The next $6,000,000 of Facility Net Revenues will be
paid to BCL
(c) If Facility Net Revenues exceed the payments made
in (a) through (b) above, the remaining Facility Net
Revenues in excess of $6,600,000 shall be divided as
follows:

i. BCL shall receive 75% and

ii. Del Mar shalf receive 25%

(d) 50% of Del Mai’s share of Facility Net Revenues shall
be deposited in a Facility Improvement Fund to be
invested in the upgrade of facility capital projects
mutually agreeable to BCL and Del Mar.

Page 123




Revenue

2 Admlssions-Sealing (Including F&RB) 3100
3 Admlssions -F&B

4 Wagering - On Track/Scolwinc 3000
5 Wali-Up Food & Baverage/Dining Concessions 3400
6 Processing/Transportation Fees 3150
7 Local Sponsors 3800
8 Parking 3230
9 Shlpping Fees 3100
10 Interest 3122
11 ATM Revenua 3124
12 Pragramsa 3300
13 Charlly Da 3700
14 .

15 Ewvent Operatiohs

16  Balaries

17 Benefits (All Labar) 4500
18 Plant {Excluding Quarantine) 4380
19 Securlly 4160
20 Admisslons 4180
21 Parking/Valet 4220
22 Customer Service 4060
23 Ushers/Growd Cantrol 4240
24 Payroll Procassing 4200
25 Program Sellers 4300
26 Paddock 4280
27 Administration 4400
28 Buglers (3 of them) 4340
25 Wardrobe 4320
30 Hackney

31 ; Ot

32 Parkmutuel {On-Track)

33 Clerks/Money Room 4140
34 Travel & Housing 7600
35 Tote Infrastructure 5115
36 Tote Fee 5120
37 Offlce Supply (Radios, Adding Machines, Etc) 5580
38 Technlclans 7120
39 Tota Paper 5600
40 Tralning & Licanss 7650
41 Armored Car 76686
42 Banking Services 7660
43 Accounting Temporary Employses 7665
44 Clerk Slgn-up Coste. 4145
45 A Tty i o
46 Ticketing & Programs

47 Credit Card Fees 5220
48 Tickets & Brochures 5640
49 Programs COS 6700
50 Credentlals (Madia, Paddcclt, Steff) 5660
51 Raclng Form COS 5720
52 Offlce Supplies 5680
53 Fricketing &

54 Food & Baverage

55 Food & Baverage (inciuded In Ticketing) 8000
56 Breakfast Margues Partion - Bulldout & Portion of F&B

57 Enhanced Cullinary 8007
58 Walk-Up Goncesslons 8010
59 Plck ups B012
60 o Tol)E

61  Facllities

62 Temporary Chalets-Canstructlon/Décor 8650
63 Event Slgnage-Hard Costs £280

Taxes & Bene
Plant
Securlty
Operatlons
Operatlons
Operatlons
Operatlons
Administrative
Operations
Operatlons
Operations
Operations
Operations
Operations

Parl-mutuef
Parl-mutuel
Parl-mutuel
Parl-rituel
Parl-mutust
Parkmutuel
Pari-muiuel
Parkmutuel
Mutual

Accounting
Accounting

Operations
Oparations
Operations
Oparations
Operatfons
Operationg

Operatlons

Operatlons

BGL

BGL
H-T
BCL
HT
BGL

H-T

H-T

H-T
HT
H-T
HT

HT
H-T
HT
HT
HF
HT
HT
H-T
H-T

BCL

BCL

16,967,270
2,512,730
4,500,000
1,800,000

350,000
86,000
300,000
70,000
85,000
9,000
40,000

309,774
377,095
84,290
21,851
45,849
52,466
15,711
7,351
1,316
17,387
759
492
3,925

283,025
150,000
5,500
60,000
19,168
13,822
5,500
3,000
12,223
19,509

16,200
687,947

400,000
350,000
250,000
94,848
16,901

2,512,730
100,000
1,100,000

1,145,000
178408 124




64 Evanlsignage-Labor 9 o - T 95,00

&5 Bulldout Consultanis 8654 Operatlons H-T 100,000
66 Tamporary Baxes 2060 Piant H-T 180,000
67 Rentals - Tables & Chalrs 5245 Oporations H-T 150,000
&8 Infleld Activation-GA 8040 Publicity BGL 165,000
69 Varlous Professlona) Services 7020 Plant H-T 85,000
70 Speclal Area Set-Up & Enhancements 3300 Operations BCL 150,000
71 Video Dlsplay Boards 8000 Broadeast H-T 21,000
72 IT 7080 IT H-T 8,000
73 Landscaping 5950 Plant H-T 50,000
74 Ambulance (2 addltional) 5200 Operatlons H-T 28,000
75 Utilities 5425 Plant H-T 75,000
76 Matal Dataciors 5100 Sacurity H-T 30,000
T Infleld Actlvation-The Beach 8625 BCL 100,000
78 Radio Rentals {HT-Employees) 5020 Piant H-T B,000
7 Dump Chargas 5000 Plant H-T 12,000
80 EC haraa crane rental to move harse 5080 Plant H-T 5,000

Bl i

82 Transportation & Parking

B3 Shutlles-Offsite/Parking 8500 350,000
84 Shuttles-Hotel 5240 Operations BCL 350,000
85 Signage-Directianal 5040 Operations H-T 35,000
86 Golf Carts/Radlo Rental 5840 Qparatl BGL

87 e (LSPOtation: & 2l i ; Y )

88  Non-Union Ity -
83 Unarmed Event Security 7100 Securlty BCL 275,000
si] Contracted Law Enforcement 7080 Seaurity BCL 175,000
o1 NG Cinioi Seeit e e e
92 Even

93 Merchandising & Media
94 Salaries & Bonefits

95 Publlcity/Press Box 4100 Publigity
96 Marketing Aldes 4040 Marketing
a7 Ad I

40

9%

99 Ticket Sales Marketing

100 Paid Medla Advertising 6040 Markeling BCL 600,000
101 Event Content Development BCL 50,000
102 Promolional Tlckets 6100 Marksling BCOL 75,000
103 : 25

104  Press Relations

105 Hatel Hospitality-Press Center 8080 Publiclty BCL 55,000
106 Festival Contribution 8520 85,000
107 Public Relatlons Agency BCL 75,000
108 Press Conference 65220 5,000
109 Nates Team 8200 Publiclty BCL 27,000
110 Photography Team BCL 25,000
111 Press-BoxFood———— 6200 Publlsity BGE 35,006
112 Local Sporla Cemmission Membership 8600 .
113 Press Set-Up 8220 Plant BCL 38,000
114 Media Row 6210 Publicity BCL 30,000
115 Printad/Media Blographles 5900 Publicity BCL 15,000
116 Interview R 8240 Plant BCL 8,000
117 ol Prot " o " vl RO it
118 Event Upgrates

119 Fascinator & Fedora 6160 Marketing BCL 50,600
120 In-Venue Expsrlence 6140 Markeling BCL 50,000
121 Opening ceramonies 6120 Marketing BCL 25,000
122 Champagne Garden Markeling BCL 75,000
123 Galabyily Promotions 6110 Marketing BCL 100,000
124 T 5 R © 300,000 -
125 1,433,500,
126 Racing

127  Purges 8480 Parl-muiual H-TIBCL 1,400,000

120 Carantine & Testing .
Page 125




130
131
132
133
134

135

136
137

138
139
140
141
142

143
144
145
146
147
148
145
150
151
152
153
154
155
158
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168

Racing Labor 4380
Supplles 5990
USDA Lab Tesls 8140

Racing
Plant
Racing

H-T
H-T
BL

135,000
250,000

Stafting
Equine Surveillance 8180
Contract Labor 8540
Vet Panel / Inspectors 7180
Track Sutface Consultant as5e0
Harse Ambulance (3) 5800

Horsemen Relations

Horsamen Hospitallty 8020
Gifting B570
Apparel 5780
Traphies 8260
Saddle Cloths, Towels, Blankets 5820
Flower Blankels 6520
IRB 7220
Racing Panel 7140
Past Position Draw Breakfast! Invitations 6180
HIG & Printed Malerials 5920
International Recruitment 7200
Translt Barn / Pony Outrlders 5340
Raelng Relatad Services - Other 7240
Starting Cates 5320

Barn Area Upgrades

Adminlistrative

BC Offlce Space/Equipment Rental 8180
Offlce Supplles 5640
Communications

Produgtion & Talant 5125
Pegasus 5180
Salarles 4080

Trackus

Plant

Security

Racing

Racing

Publicity

Racing
Racing
Racing
Racing
Racing
Racing
Recing
Publicity
Racing
Raclng
Raclng
Racing
Razing

Ptant
Raclng
Administrative

Broadcast
Broadeast
Broadcast

BCL

BCL

BCL

BCL
BCL
BCL
BCL
BCL
BCL
BGL
BCL
BCL
BCL
H-T
BCL
H-T

BCL
H-T

. 5,340 500:

600,000

100,000
250,000

15,000

600,000

185,000
150,000
180,000
135,000

40,000

80,000

50,000
300,000
35,000
20,000
20,000
14,000

2,000
50,000

125,000
500

125,500

150,000

7,500

169

170 Miscellaneous

171 BCBGC 8360 BCL 425,000
172 BCL Accounting 8545 15,000
173 Sponsorship Fullllment 8610 40,000
174 Celebtlty Sultas (Suit-up) 8070 75,000
175 Canlingency/Del Mat Banuses 8700 BCL 200,000
176 Insurance 7400 Administralive BCL 350,000
177 Hand Held Scanners 6050 2,000
178 Florals 6055 30,000
179 Covid-19 Cosls 8660 -
180 Operations

181
182

183

184
185
186

Yolunteers 8025
ilal

1R

. Facility Payment (22nd Agricultural District) -
,Bréeder_s'.cup Allogation .. g
‘Host Track Allacation

BCL

: 8,352,725
. 600,000

L 7,314,544

438,181

Page 126




EXHIBIT “C”

BREEDERS’ CUP WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP
RULES AND CONDITIONS

RACE CONDITIONS

All BCWC Races are conducted under the BC Condition of Entry*

FUTURE STARS FRIDAY - NOVEMBLR 1, 2024

Breeders’ Cup Juvenile Turf Sprint 2YO 5 Furlongs (T) $ 1 Million
Breeders’ Cup Juvenile Fillies 2YO |F 1 1/16 Miles $ 2 Million.
Breeders’ Cup Juvenile Fillies Turf 2Y0Q |F 1 Mile (1) $ 1 Million
Breeders’ Cup Juvenile 2Y0 | C&G 1 1/16 Miles $ 2 Million
Breeders” Cup Juvenile Turf 2Y0 | C&G 1 Mile (T) $ 2 Million
CHAMPIONSHIPS SATURDAY - NOVEMBER 2, 2024
Breeders’ Cup Filly & Mare Sprint | 3YO & UP | F&M | 7 Furlongs $ 1 Million
Breeders’ Cup Turf Sprint 3Y0 & UP 5 Furlongs (T) | $ 1 Million
Breeders” Cup Dirt Mile 3Y0 & UP 1 Mile $ 1 Million
Breeders’ Cup Filly & Mare Turf 3YO&UP |F&M | 13/8Miles (T) | $2 Million
Breeders’ Cup Sprint 3Y0 & UP 6 Furlongs $ 2 Million
Breeders’ Cup Mile 3Y0 & UP 1 Mile (T) $ 2 Million
Breeders’ Cup Distaff 3IYO&UP |F&M |1 1/8 Miles $ 2 Million
Breeders’ Cup Tutf JYO & UP 1 Y Miles (T) | $ 4 Million
Breeders’ Cup Classic 3YO & UP 1 ¥4 Miles $ 6 Million

Total Purses & Awards $28,000,000.00,

All races weight-for-age

All races limited to 14 starters and will carry up to four or six also-eligibles (noted in conditions)
All Championship races are Grade |

Purses for the Championship Races shall be paid in 1.S. dollars. Purses set forth above are
inclusive of travel awards. Purses will not be increased by pre-entry, entry fees or nomination
fees.

ENTRY PROCEDURES AND FELS

Pre-Entry Deadline and Fee Requirements

Breeders’ Cup Limited (BCL) reserves the right to refuse the pre-entry or subsequent entry of any
horse, in BCL’s sole discretion, for any reason, including, but not limited to, situations where any
connection (e.g., owner, trainer, jockey) of such horse has engaged or may have engaged in

Page 127




conduct, or become the subject of a regulatory or law enforcement inquiry or action alleging
conduct that is unlawful, unethical or which may otherwise compromise the integrity of the
Breeders’ Cup World Championships (BCWC).

In addition, BCL may, in BCL’s sole discretion, refise the pre-eniry or subsequent entry of any
horse that has tested positive for any anabolic steroid or other ARCI prohibited substance in out-
of-competition testing conducted in connection with BCL’s Breeders® Cup Challenge Series in the
year of the Championships or similar testing conducted by Breeders’ Cup Limited. A horse that
has been treated with extracorporeal shockwave therapy within thirty (30) days of running in the
BCWC will be ineligible to participate.

Pre-entries for the 2024 Breeders’ Cup Championship races will close at 12:00 p.m. (PT),
Monday, October 21, 2024, A pre-entry fee of one (1.5%) percent of the gross purse for a
designated race will be due at the time of pre-entry. A horse may pre-enter in no more than two
(2) races. All horses must be nominated to the Breeders’ Cup in order to participate. Non-
nominated racehorses may be nominated on or before the pre-entry deadline

If a horse is pre-entered for two races, the required pre-entry payment must be for the race of
greatest purse value regardless of whether that is the race of first choice.

Should a pre-entry fee be paid of greater amount than that required for a designated race, the excess
balance may be refunded or applied to entry fee requirements for the race actually entered. (For
example, if a pre-entry fee of $60,000 is paid in anticipation of entering the Breeders’ Cup Mile
and the horse is actually entered in the Breeders® Cup Dirt Mile instead--requiring a $30,000 pre-
entry fee--then the excess $30,000 may be applied to the fees due at the time entries are taken.)

*Breeders’ Cup Condition of Entry
As a condition of entry for any BCWC race, no horse:

(1) within six (6) months of the BCWC shall test positive in a BCL out-of-competition test sample
for, or have a veterinarian reported administration of any anabolic steroid, any bisphosphonate,

or any other prohibited substance described under the Association of Racing Commissioners
International (*ARCI”) prohibited substance list at ARCI-011-015 V.11.0 (Annex I) of ARCI’s
Model Rules, and any horse in violation of this Condition (i) shall be incligible to participate in
the 2023 BCWC. Any horse nominated, pre-entered ot entered to race is subject to blood, hair,

orurine testing at any-time.

(i) within thirty (30) days of the BCWC shall have been treated with extracorporeal shock wave
therapy; and any horse in violation of this Condition (ii) shall be ineligible to participate in the
2024 BCWC,

(iii) will have a positive finding of any medication or substance carrying a Category “A”, “B” or
“C” penalty as designated in California Horse Racing Board Rule 1843.2 (current) in a BCWC
postrace test sample; and a positive finding for any of these medications or substances, as described

C-2

Page 128




above, will lead to a disqualification of the horse, a redistribution of the purse, and a suspension
of the trainer for one year from competing in the next BCWC.

If any connection of the above-described horse has been notified by a regulatory body, racetrack
or racing association (i) about a pending or potential anti-doping or medication control violation
involving the connection, or (ii) that such connection is currently banned, ejected or denied from
participating in racing in its jurisdiction or facility, such connection must immediately report the
same to Breeders’ Cup. A positive test may reporl the presence of substance(s) administered to a
horse prior to six (6) months before the BCWC.

Intry Deadline and Fee Requirements

Entries for the 2024 Breeders’ Cup Championship Races will close at 10:00 a.m., (PT) Monday,
October 28, 2024, An entry fee of one (1.5%) percent of the gross purse for the designated race
will be due at the time of entry (fees are payable to the Del Mar Thoroughbred Club, which will
accept fees on behalf of Breeders’ Cup Limited).

Pre-entry and entry fees for nominated horses are nonrefundable except in the event of sickness or
disability certified by the track or state veterinarian, or veterinary certification acceptable to
Breeders’ Cup Limited, or in the event a horse is prevented ffom starting by a decision of the
Racing Directors/Secretaries Panel to enter the race of first choice.

All pre-entry, entrv fees and nomination fees are payable in U.S. funds.

FEES COLLECTION GUIDELINES

1. The appropriateness of the form and amount of pre-entry, entry and nomination fees paid
will be determined by Breeders’ Cup Limited before a horse is permitted to start in a
BCWC Race.

2, The form of payment of fees at pre-entry may be at the discretion of the Host Track or

Breeders” Cup Limited. Payment of fees at entry must be in the form of BCL approved
credit cards, wire transfers or certified funds. Participants may also make payment in cash,
provided, however, that such cash payment shall be made directly to BCL unless Host, in
its sole discretion, consents to accept the payment in cash.

3. All pre-entry, entry and nomination fees not paid to the Host Track must be paid to a racing
authority/association or agency approved by Breeders’ Cup Limited.

4. Neither Breeders® Cup Limited nor the Host Track shall extend credit for pre-entry or entry
fees.

5. All refunds of pre-entry, entry and nomination fees must be approved and directed by
Breeders’ Cup Limited.

C-3

Page 129




PURSE DISTRIBUTION RULES

The gross purse for each Championship race will include a Travel Award equal to eight percent
(current level) of the purse. Owners who entet horses in Breeders’ Cup Championship Races will
receive a travel award in the amount of $10,000 (US) if shipping to the Host Track from a location
outside of California but in North America or $40,000 (US) if shipping from a location outside of
North America in the circumstances set forth in the rules of the Breeders’ Cup Limited governing
such awards.

The announced gross purse of each Breeders® Cup Championship Race will not be increased by
pre-entry, entry or nomination fees collected prior to race day.

Purse Distribution for the
Breeders’ Cup Championship Races

(ficial Finish Owner Purse (10 or more starters)

Ist 52% :
2nd 17% o
3rd 0% P
4th 5%
5th 3%
6th 1%
7th 1%
$th 1%
Oth 1%
Lot 1%
Travel Awards 8%

Note 1 The foregoing examples apply to races with ten (10) or more starters. All purse money not
distributed reverts to BCL, unless state law requires the unclaimed purse money to escheat to the

state.

Note 2 Owners’ purse distributions will be based on official order of finish.

Note 3 All unpaid travel awards will remain the property of Breeders’ Cup Limited,

Note 4 Owner must ensute that BCL has current contact and tax information for the owner, BCL
will make reasonable eflorts to locate owners to pay awards, I[f BCL does not locate an owner for
the payment of an award and the owner does not claim the award within three (3) years from the
date of the race upon which the award was determined, the owner forfeits all claims to the award i
and it reverts to BCL, unless state law requires the unclaimed purse money to escheat to the
state. All international owners must have a US Tax ID to receive a purse distribution,

Page 130




BREEDERS’ CUP FIELD SELFECTION METHODOLOGY

Breeders’ Cup Field Selection System

A maximum of 14 starters are allowed in each of the fourteen Breeders’ Cup Championship taces
with the exception of any BCWC race that, due to track configurations, will start 12. Breeders’
Cup Limited has adopted a field selection system to select runners in the event fields are
oversubscribed. This system ranlks horses in order of preference based upou (i) wins in
Breeders’ Cup Challenge Races, (ii) a point system, and (iii) the judgment of a panel of racing
experts. The first two criteria will assign a maximum of seven (7) horses (or all Challenge winners)
for fields limited to 14 starters and a maximum of six (6) horses for fields limited to twelve stasters.
The field selection system will be implemented, as necessary, following the taking of pre-entries
on October 21, 2024, to officially rank the oversubscribed fields. The Racing Directors/Secretaries
Panel (the “Panel”) will rank all the horses pre-entered in the oversubscribed races as described
below. After pre-eniry, any vacancies in the fields will be filled by horses in order of panel
preference.

Breeders’ Cup Challenge Races

The winners of certain stakes known as Breeders’ Cup Challenge Races will earn the right to start
in the Championship Race that corresponds to the Breeders’ Cup division of the Challenge Race.
[n the event a horse wins Challenge Races in more than one Breeders’ Cup division, that horse
may be entered in the Championship Race that corresponds with any of the divisions of the
Challenge Races that horse won. The Breeders” Cup Challenge Races and their corresponding
Breeders® Cup divisions shall be designated and announced by BCI.. The awarding of Challenge
entry fees is upon pre-entering and entering the Championship division race. The benefits resulting
from winning a Challenge Race are only available in the year in which the Challenge Race is won
and do not carry over to future years if the horse is unable to compete in the Championships in the
year it wins a Challenge Race. In the event a horse wins more than one Challenge Race in a given
year, the Challenge benefits for the owner of such horse will include only one starting fec to the
Breeders” Cup World Championships that year.

Graded Stakes Points

Specific point values are assigned to first-, second- and third-place finishes in stakes throughout
~ theInited States and/or Canada from January 1 through the pre-entry deadline date October 21,

2024, that have been granted graded status by the American Graded Stakes Committee of the
Thoroughbred Owners and Breeders Association and/or by the Jockey Club of Canada.
[nternational Group races outside of the U.S. and Canada have no point value.

Based on this system, win, place and show horses in Grade [ stakes earn ten, six and four points,
respectively. The top three finishers in Grade I stakes earn six, four and two points respeetively,
and in Grade III races the points earned are four, two and one, respectively,

C-5

Page 131




Breeders’ Cup Graded Stakes Points

Win Place Show
Grade | 10 4] 4
Grads 11 0 4 2
Grade IIT 4 2 1

Except for the five two-year old Championship Races, Graded Stakes Points for dirt races will be
the only points considered for horses pre-entered in dirt Championship Races and Graded Stakes
Points for turf races will be the only points considered for horses pre~entered in Turf Championship
Races. All Graded Stakes Points will be considered for the five two-year old Championship Races.

Pre-Entry Procedures

Selection Procedures

In the case of an oversubscribed 14- or 12- horse ficld, the first horse(s) selected will be the
winner(s) of Breeders’ Cup Challenge races in the corresponding Breeders’ Cup Championships
division. After the selection of Challenge winners, the next horses will be ranked at pre-entry based
on the total number of Graded Stakes points they have collected during the year untif a maximum
of seven or six horses (or all Challenge winners) have been ranked based on Breeders’ Cup
Challenge races and Graded Stakes points. All horses will need to accumulate a minimum of six
(6) points in American and/or Canadian Graded Stakes races to be considered to receive an
automatic selection on points in any Championships race with the exception of the five Juvenile
races. In the five Juvenile races, horses will need to accumulate a minimum of four (4) points in
American and/or Canadian Graded Stakes races to be considered to receive an automatic selection
on points.

The horses remaining after the first seven or six (or all Challenge winners) in oversubscribed
fourteen or twelve horse fields at the time of pre-entry will be ranked in order of preference by the
Panel, The Panel will be free to establish its own criteria or ranking so that high-quality horses of
demonstrated ability will have the opportunity to participate in Championships races regardless of
earlier participation in graded events.

Horses will be allowed to pre-enter a maximum of two races. The races in which the horse pre-

enters must be designated in order of choice at the time of pre-entry on October 21, 2024,
Performance in Breeders’ Cup Challenge races and points earned in American Graded Stakes raees
and/or Canadian Graded Stakes races have no bearing on a given Championships race field unless
the race is oversubscribed (more than fourteen or twelve pre-entered).

Once a horse has been ranked among the first 14- or [2-horses in its race of first choice at pre-
entry, its ranking in its race of second choice will be based first on whether it won a Breedets’

Cup Challenge race in the Championships division of the second choice and then on the judgment
of the Panel regardless of the number of points earned in American and/or Canadian Graded Stakes

C-6

Page 132




races. If a horse is not ranked among the first fourteen or twelve horses in its race of first choice
and it did not win a Challenge race in its Championships division of second choice, then its points
earned in American and/or Canadian Graded Stakes races will be utilized for ranking in its race of
second choice.

“Ties’ at Pre-Entry

In the event more than fourteen or twelve horses are pre-entered in a particular Championships
race and two or more horses are tied for the seventh or sixth highest number of American and/or
Canadian Graded Stakes races points at the time of pre-entry, the Panel shall decide in its sole
discretion which of those horses shall be the seventh or sixth highest point earner. Horses not
selected shall then be ranked in order of preference by the Pancl at its discretion.

Pre-fintry Rankings

The Panel will issue a list of all horses ranked in order of preference for each Championship Race
that is oversubscribed at the time of pre-entry. Afier pre-entry, any vacancies in the fields of
oversubscribed races will be filled by horses in the Panel’s order of preference as determined at
pre-entry,

Note | Challenge Race wins and Graded Stakes points will have no bearing on ranking after pre-
entry.

Entry Procedures

Entries for all Breeders” Cup World Championships races will close promptly at 10:00 am (PT)
on Monday, October 28, 2024, in the Breeders’ Cup Racing Office at Del Mar only. At the time
of entry, a maximum of fourteen horses and up to four (4) also-eligibles may be accepted for entry
in each race based on the order of preference in the rankings established at pre-eniry, except for
those BCWC races that start twelve horses, they will have up to six (6) also-cligibles.

Scratch time for afl Friday Championships races to be contested will be 8:00 am (PT) on Friday,
November 1, 2024. Scratch time for all Saturday Championships races to be contested will be 8:00
am (PT) on Saturday, November 2, 2024,

Also-Eligible Horses
There may be up to four (4) also-cligible horses for each Championships race that starts fourteen

horses, in races that start twelve horses, there may be up to six (6) also-eligible horses. The also-
cligible horses will be designated in accordance with the Breeders’ Cup Racing
Directors/Secretaries Panel’s order of preference for each Championships race that is
oversubscribed at the time of pre-entry.

C-7

Page 133




EXHIBIT "D"
REPORTS TO RECONCILE REVENUE

Ticketing Reconciliation Repott
Revenue received vs Sabo

CHRMS Reports
Updates conceming simulcast collections as requested

F & B Revenue Reports

General Admission Reports (walle-ups if applicable)
Parking Revenue Report |

Program Revenue Report

ATM Revenue Report

Investment Reports

REPORTS TO RECONCILE EXPENSES

General Ledger to be received as requested (for timely expense and revenue tracking)

Paymaster of Purses Report
All inclusive report of pre-entry, entry, travel and purses paid

F & B Expense Report

Payroll Reports -for salary and hourly employees
_ Title, allocation of salaried employees as well as taxes and benefits
Wage per hour & number of hours worked for hourly employees (timesheets)

Payroll Report- for mutuel tetiers & money room
Title, wage per hour & number of hours worked (timesheets)

Reports concerning travel & temporary housing

Credit Card Fees Report

Page 134




Page 135




EXHIBIT “E”

Collective Bargaining

Intentionally Left Blank

Page 136




EXHIBIT “F”

Excise Tax/Races

Intentionally [eft Blank

Page 137




EXHIBIT “G”

RACING DATES, WAIVERS, ETC,

Host shall notify BCL by December 31, 2023 that it has secured the following racing dates and
shall notify BCL prior to May 1, 2024 that it has secured other additional approvals, rules and
authorizations listed below as Regulatory Requirements,

Racing Dates: Friday, November 1 and Saturday, November 2, 2024

Regulatory Requirements or House Rules Requested:

If HISA rules are not in effect, Host Racing Commission must have regulations already in effect,
or Host must request rule waivers, by no later than May 1, 2024, that;

1. Prohibit the use of anabolic steroids within the previous six (6) months of race
day.

2. Restriet the use of clenbuterol within six (6) weeks of race day.

3. Restrict the use of EWST or shockwave therapy within 30 days of race day.

4, Intra-articular corticosteroid treatments are prohibited within 14 days of racing,

More than one corticosteroid in a post-race test sample is prohibited.

5. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are prohibited within 48 hours
of a work or a race. No authorized threshold for NSAIDs, with the exception of
phenylbutazone, flunixin, and ketoprofen.

6. Require comprehensive out of competition testing on horses identified as possible
starters or which have been pre-entered in the Championship.

7. Prohibit the administration of all race day'medications to horses entered in the
Races and Additional Races within 48 hours of race day.

8. Conduct TCO?2 testing on every horse entered in the Races and Additional Races.

9. Permit loading horses into both ends of the starting gate simultaneously, known as
“double loading”,

10, Permit the “Quick Official” to make races official soon after they have been run.
11.  Permit 14 horses to run in all Championship turf races.

[2.  Waive the tattoo requirement for otherwise identifiable horses coming from
international locations specifically for stakes races.

13.  Employ the usage of digital registration certificates.

Page 138




15.
16.

18.

19,

20,

21.

22.

23,

24,

Conduct “supertesting” for the presence of drugs and other substances on the 4
top finishers pius 1 other selected by the Stewards, including any beaten favorites,
in all Races by an accredited laboratory.

Have jockey advertising rules in place.
Designate up to six (6) also-eligibles for each of the oversubscribed Races.

Designate a Friday scratch time for Friday Races and Saturday scratch time for
Saturday races.

Permit also-eligible horses in the Races to enter an Additional Race on the same
day to allow for full fields,

Require horses competing in the Races to ship-in on Tuesday, October 29, 2024
for mandatory testing and veterinary exams.

Require horses competing in the Additional Races to ship-in 48 hours prior to first
post on race day.

Request simplification of licensing requirements for visiting participants, by
offering either temporary licenses, waiving fingerprints, reduced fees, etc.

Each starter in the Races and Additional Races shall be considered a separate
betting interest irrespective of common ownership or trainers.

Requiring trainers of horses pre-entered in the Races to utilize official Breedets’
Cup saddle towels each and every time a pre-entered horse goes to the Facility
racetrack during Championship week.

Establish excessive whip rules and penalty system.

Page 139




EXHIBIT “H”

BREEDERS’ CUP WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP
QUARANTINE & ISOLATION FACILITIES

Host will locate at the Facility a quarantine and isolation facility fully approved and accredited
by the United States Department of Agriculture-APHIS,

The quarantine facility must be available a minimum of 30 days in advance of Championship
Friday and Saturday. It must allow for the arrival of six (6) distinct quarantine shipments
(identified as a quarantine unit) from international locations within 36 hours and include 1.) an
additional separate area that is dedicated to horses that arrive in an isolation status and 2.) an
additional isolation stall for a sick/diseased horse that USDA requites to be separated from
arrival shipment.

1. Each quarantine unit must have its own and interior separate walking ring for
exercise before the horse is released from a mandatory 42 hour quarantine. Each
unit must have a minimum of 16 stalls and the combined quarantine/isolation
compound must have a minimum of 96 stalls.

2. Each unit must be double screened, must have impervious floors and walkways
and must be constructed according to mandatory guidelines from the USDA-
APHIS. Host track wilf be responsible for construction of such area and present it
for final inspection and sealing by USDA representatives no later than 30 days
before the estimated arrival of the first quarantine shipment.

3. The quarantine/isolation compound must allow for the use of temporary offices
used by the USDA, Mersant, IRB and others while horses are on the grounds.
These may be trailers located in proximity to the compound.

4. Host is responsible for installing a perimeter fence around such compound for
security and controf.

5. Host is responsible for staffing checkpoints with security officers at the entrances
to the quarantine compound.

6. BCL is responsible for hiring a quarantine barn manager to assist with preparation
of arrival of runners 2 weeks prior to Championship Friday and Saturday.

7. Host is responsible for designating a parking area for Quarantine staff, BC
trainers and their employees in close proximity to the Quarantine compound
consisting of a minitnum of 75 parking spots.

8. Quarantine compound must have a clear and unobstructed path to the racing
surfaces,

Page 140




EXHIBIT “1”

2024 CHAMPIONSHIPS CREDENTIAL GUIDELINES

All credentials for the BCWC must be requested through the BCL Racing/Operations office and must
be in the approved format that is provided to each department and host track. All requests for access
will be reviewed and approved before submitting to Populous (or approved vendor) for production.

There is one event credential produced with additional areas or security zones added.

The groups issuing credentials are listed below and the total quantities of requested credentials
produced beside the type. This does not mean all are issued. A master document of all credentials is
kept by BCI. Racing/Operations to avoid duplication,

Included access:

Access to the following areas of the racetrack, Facility Grounds, Grandstand (including temporary

seating areas), Clubhouse, Turf Club and Stable area.

Additional security zones:

R Racing Surface

Saddling Paddock

Winner’s Circle

Trophy Lounge

Suites

Owner/Trainer Enclosure

Media Centers including NBC Compound

P

W

T

B Breakfast Marquee
S

E

M

H

Host, may escort others

EXECUTIVE Unrestrieted access

Unless a P sticker is on the event credential signifying all day aceess for both days, race specific
Paddock Passes are required for entry to the paddock for each race for each day.

Senior officials and certain staff will receive an Executive sticker which grants unrestricted access to
all areas of the racetrack with the exception of the Quarantine area.

Exceptions are the USDA Quarantine and Isolation barns. Badges and wristbands will be required for
enfry into the USDA Quarantine and Isolation barns.

Breeders’ Cup Limited (1000) and Del Mar Credential (1000)

Full-Time and Seasonal statf of DMTC, Premier Catering and 22" DAA that are valid
employees over BCWC will utilize employee badges on race days

Network Television Credential (400)
Player’s Show/TVG (150)

Media Credentials (1000)

Page 141




Exhibit I-Credentials

Page Two

Participant Credentials (3500)
Guest Credentials (1000)
Vendor Credentials (1000)

Stable Area guest passes will be issued by BCL Racing for guests that are accompanied by a
credentialed official or participant.

Page 142




EXHIBIT «J»
HOST TRACK MARKETING

In addition to the marketing covenants set forth in the Agreement by and between BCL
and Host, Host covenants that Host will deliver the following specific marketing efforts:

Marketing support of the 2022, 2023, & 2025 Breeders’ Cup events, including:

I. Ticket Sales and Challenge Series:

a, A full page, color print ad in Host track programs for the duration of Hosts
annual race meets;

b. Three (3) emails annually from Host to its database promoting Breeders®
Cup tickets or Breeders’ Cup promotions. Message to be determined by
BCL; final creative/copy to be approved by Host;

¢. :30 commercial to run on Hosts simulcast show and Jumbotron daily
during race meets;

d. Banner ads or other equivalent promotional units on Hosts website daily,
placement of such to be mutually agreed upon;

e. Social media posts and engagement with, and support of, Breeders’ Cup
social media channels at the discretion of Host.

2. Breeders’ Cup World Championships:

&. Host to run marketing materials from September — BC event to actively
promote and encourage fans to attend Host venue to watch and wager on
the Breeders® Cup.

i. Materials to include website ad units and messaging, full page
print ad in track program, on site messaging, dedicated emails, :30
commercials on simulcast and Jumbotron and social media
promotion

b. Host to conduct and promote Breeders’ Cup simulcast parties during 2022,
2023, & 2025 Breeders’ Cup World Championships to encourage
attendance and wagering at Host venue during those years,

c. Host to conduct a minimum of three (3) Breeders’ Cup Betting Challenge
qualifying tournaments per year.

d. Host to sell Breeders’ Cup merchandise (if available) in gift shop and at
other to be around Host venue during 2022 and 2023 Breeders’ Cup World

Championships:

Full marketing support of the 2024 Breeders’ Cup event, including:

1. Two (2) :30 commercials to run daily on Host simulcast show during live meets

2. A full page, color print ad in track program for the duration of the Host race meets

3. Four (4) dedicated emails from Host to its database promoting ticket sales or other
Breeders’ Cup initiatives at dates mutually agreed upon

4. Website banner ads on Host websites daily promoting Breeders’ Cup ticket sales

Page 143




Permanent branding on Host website, email template and race meet program
covers promoting Host as “Host of the 2024 Breeders’ Cup” or other similar
language

Year-round social media engagement with, and support of, Breeders’ Cup social
media channels on mutually agreed upon content/timing

Dedicated space at Host venue during live meets for ticket booths promoting
and/or selling Breeders” Cup tickets

Host to host a minimum of three (3) Breeders” Cup Betting Challenge qualifying
tournaments per year.

In addition to the marketing covenants set forth in the Agreement by and between BCL
and Host, BCL covenants to deliver the following specific marketing efforts for Host:

1.

Two (2) emails annually from BCL to their database providing a specific special
offer on Host tickets or promotions. Message to be determined by Host; final
creative/copy to be approved by BCL.

Social media engagernent with, and support of, Host social media channels at the
discretion of BCL.

BCL shall permit Host to be a satellite location for the Breeders Cup Challenge
events for the 2022, 2023, & 2025 Breeders’ Cups.

Page 144




EXHIBIT "K"

The parties have agreed to place corporate and sponsorship identity display signage on
and within the racetrack premises in the following [ocations and at such other locations
as the parties may mutually agree. Adequate Storage for no less than three (3) 40°
storage containers must be supplied by host site during the months of August throngh
January of the subsequent calendar year,

Production and delivery costs are included within the event signage budget. Installation and removal
costs are included within the track personnel budget that is also contained within the operating budget,

CLUBHOUSE

Any and all clubhouse entrances.

Any and all clubhouse parking areas including valet and self-park and light poles

lnterior areas of clubhouse within proximity to interior entrances and dining rooms

Any temporary suites and hospitality areas contained within the clubhouse access
Footprint

Any exterior areas of clubhouse foot traffic areas between clubhouse gate and
interior entrances

Any and all grandstand entrances

Any and all grandstand parking areas including valet and self-park and light poles :

Intetior areas of grandstand within proximity to interior entrances and dining rooms |

Any temporary seating and hospitality areas contained within the grandstand access i
footprint ;

Any exterior areas of grandstand foot traffic areas between grandstand gate and
interior entrances

FADDOCK

Within each stall of saddling barn for each race for both Championship days
Top of saddling barn roof

Along paddock wall areas

Along paddock and walking ring railing system

Allpole-stall-dividers

INFIELD

Infield Flags

All Tote roofs and Tote sides
All Video Boards

[nfield Grounds !

Page 145




Turf Track- no less than 480 feet (where possible with rail system and hedge line)
Main Track - no less than 520 feet

Trophy Cart area for presentations of trophy
Railing areas surrounding winners circle
Railing areas above winners circle

Wall surrounding winners circle

Top of starting gate(s) using a custom frame system that will cover the front and
back of all starting gates for both Championship Days with possible sponsor and
BCL branding. Any rental issues with the starting gate company shall be addressed
and cleared by Santa Anita in writing with gate supplier, Signage will only be used
for Championship Days and then removed.

TUNNELS

Entrance To the Paddock from the Track
Exit From the Paddock to the Track

Clubhouse Areas
Grandstand Areas
Infield Areas

Clubhouse Areas
Grandstand Areas
Infield Areas

Al Parking and Entrance and Exits Roadways
D I

Any and/or all structures offering hospitality outside of permanent plant structure
Parking Lots

All fencing
Roof and sides of Barns
All Parking and Entrance and Exit Roadways

Page 146




Page 147



EXHIBIT “L”
FIRST CLASS EXPERIENCE PROGRAMMING

[t is mutually agreed by Host and BCL that it is in the best interest of both parties to create
consistent, anticipatory service levels and entertainment programming to elevate the guest and
participant experiences at the BCWC. In order to ensure this focus and attention, Host represents
that it shall:

(1) Provide evidence of demonstrated investment in customer service training of key
public facing employee groups including;

- Ushers

- Admissions

«  Mutuel Clerks

- Food Service & Concessionaire
- Valets

(2) Demonstrate a commitment to elevated food & beverage service delivety in premium
spaces including:

- Director’s Room

- Corporate Suites — Sky Rooms, Luxury and Celebrity

- 4" Floor Dining Rooms

- Turf Club

- Temporary contructed Premium Seating

- Permanent and Temporary Box Seating

- Champion’s Terrace (Portion of Paddock Tavern)

- Enclosures (Portion of Paddock Tavern and 17 Hands Patio Only)

(3) Develop with BCL, expedited ingress/egress plans for Key Groups:

- BCL & Host Board Memberts

- BCL & Host Invited VIP Members
- Corporate Partners

- Participants

(4} Working in cooperation with community leadership, Host will lead planning and
execution of a week-long event schedule creating a festival atmosphere for
participants, invited guests, and attendees of the BCWC.

(5) Working in cooperation with BCL, Host will assist in planning and execution of
tacility wide entertainment and experiential programming to elevate the guest
experiences including but not limited to:

Page 148




- Music executions
- Fashion & Style programming
- Exhibition Food & Beverage outlets

(6) Provide an ample number of sufficiently trained staff with respect to ushers,

admissions, mutue! clerks, food and service providers, and valets to provide first class

experience with minimal, if any, wait times.

Page 149




EXHIBIT "M"
HOSPITALITY AREAS

BCL & HOST MAY UTILIZE THE FOLLOWING AREAS FOR HOSTING VIP'S,
CORPORATE PARTNERS, AND SPONSORS:

*  DIRECTORS ROOM
* CORPORATE SUITES - SKY ROOMS, LUXURY AND CELEBRITY
* 4T FLOOR DINING ROOMS
* TURF CLUB
+ ANY PREMIUM SEATING TO BE CONSTRUCTED
* PERMANENT & TEMPORARY BOX SEATING
: +  CHAMPION’S TERRACE
* 'ENCLOSURES (PADDOCK TAVERN AND 17 HANDS PATIO)
* SPEAKEASY (TURF TERRACE BALCONY)

Page 150




225 PROPOSED BCWC BREEDERS' CUF WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS TICKETING EUDGET & SEATING PLAN (DEL MAR)
Projecnd Sal- | Profocd Sopaciy | TickstFiice 2oy Tiekn
Thae R Poa Ty Perey |20y P Ravarae
5 & ECL Iy
s=mon v B e m omr | m s [ m s por i T
H R UraFE e
£ S [Temporary o 8 Yoz |ren RE RN Y stanondl | sabol 0] =% 185,300,
{Clunhtuca Box Seals 1354 Yes fres | Tt b T $1.7608 E) . LA 54,290,950,
Fits: T Resrauron (Tracksde Dinagh 252 fes |ves | meo| sl s,00) || s® 1 33,
Chatiroursa Tomoce: Reawaer {Traskesaa g il Yes |ves -3 BB =l ey LAy 50200 530 4 i 970 G,
Veranda Cati (Pacionk Wese Dirang) 15T ROV ASARET RALING 40 Tes |Yar M) 1 £l «a o e = 32000 3% AL 2 HE o0
¥ A RTINS |z ves v ookl wmt oz | ome | s see s Rl | i [ 0 e
fekesily ol "Blun oot {Packonk View Dinag-12. 3ip gt £ Yes |ver o] toesi % 2 | swe| =0 =y wwepaf| 0 ik 05| 110,00}
Chohouse Revtivea Sess o5 iNe [t sl smp & s | sem| sl a0 TS e g [t SR
Longalzn Lotinge 24 Yes (ha wul oo b ] = 5o ) = « 0] | B
Tt Chas Rectaenid (205 6o, 107 4oy, 12 24epsd 1,545 Vos [ves | 6 1) i) amed v um | sr=| s .50 A 5253 & o]
Ceiebry Sistes |4 2 48 zes each, 1 o 32 2eang) e ves |ves | 56 on| Wm @ ™ 1 osae| s s LS 180.00 %
Liscury Sushec {16 st 157k 18 quonds, ks 3 254 vex fre | o Wi sl o= 2= 1250} ssom 500 ¥ I ]
Pactock Flsom {gisiodan wioackdotk view off 3ules fevel} £ Yes |ves =)o ] sl 50 by 4 E L=
i vtors’ Resom e o poekdork 2rd frackt 122 e e Wl WM @ @ i owee| sy ST szl sen 154
ey 2o 4 totad wistennsa Sebesziany @12 ez {Yes 0O R S sz i ool smp sl wem)| s i %]
1 Pato Remourar oo & usooor e = Yes e Rl e I ) 3§ s7so| wel s smzaonf | swme H 25
[ETRERGH RuM: 2
Sireieh Rus Poctoge (Priagent Fresay Bot-CH Wik Saty Ed Yes |fio el omE W 3m » El | |
[Stedch Fun Gril Ex3s (Trosksioe Binng) 2 s Jves ol Wi e wa ] w0l S50 5 mesennf| sy
Sticichs Fun 1 e {Treckaioe D) 2 o e W W s W] sl w0 =50, SMEENE | $50 3
1T RO ARAINST Red 84 s {Ye LR s | mmoum 5673 SEIWE| 5RO
¢ (Heincien-aodsek View Dinogy ADUL TABAZS w1 011355 ver |ves ] wes| v w1 | sonf sws E= A0 w0
 Sresch Run Reservod Sesta 0] Level 3 {Seions 1.4} e o [l sl wes| ar = | sms) s $450) 108 0554 !
SHescrs Fun Reagwent St €584 Lo 3 (Secworrs 551 =] ] ez ww| a2 # | nn) e =5 ST 81 By 0
Siesehs Rom Reserved $2a13 2 Lowe] 3 {Secrors 10:44) 850 o It [ T m | sims| s 40| s3r2:360) ) H
Siesch Fun Reserved Seqts West tauel 3 (Séchions 1618 L 100 for BREY 532 o [Mo ol w2z = =
Snech Run Reserd Seata Eas) Linel 4 {Sevtiony 1513 85 i e el nes| o e Ed
Sireich P Resened Sasts Vet Loveld (Secions 1418 k=3 o Mo wwl wey 1w =5 Ed
Ststch Run Resetved Sears el Lavd § {Sectom 219) o Ne fMo o o) TS =2 LY %]
Stictch Rum Resered Seats Exst Level 5 {Semns 1343} s i o E I = kY ;
Shesch Fum Reserved Seats Vi Liwed § (Seciars 14-18) 528 e [ps Al ] an sea =) i
Stasch L. i 2729 Yoy [faex | 1R %l B RS 248 ) pt
A0y N 3 ey m) &5 B2 50
Vs {ltm L3 st Ew|  mn 555!
ol o o
[l Lz o £
JBCHC-Blach Run 251 Fakteruen Seatmg | 1m Lt ) b
0B - Pocfic Classic Roatn | Sumham (Paodork View Diningh 0 ] ool wow| @ 5
ECEC - Hormamen's Lounge (Fuciadk Yiew Dining) o ] LR 25|
&C—« tHer v RE:] = s e 15 L0
SENERAL ADMISFION:
stz Pacife Pruiion {Toote Seoting) 1234 Mo fro ol ;e 250
Thve Boogh- femposary 20, S5 E50 o i Ty WO 4@ b
ek Genered ASTe1sin [PYV 3 A LCKER, 10 ety ety o Mo i sx) 10s] =0 L
Gemirl Aciirtroh (Ffac ket Gy Beatth i Infielt P P zom Ho i Bgi w7 ) .
Chushouae valk Around {Stenang Room Qnks} 1500 [He 1] R W 0 b}
 Turt by el Arounic (e Roam Oy ] o tha ool 1% w9 i
Sob-iotals: W 230 1 TTE
LR ]
B o (oo f ’
~Camled X barwrtabi doa artadie.

ProcessngFee (512 par ke pray) § 000
| atocasen Breatienn Stersters] Orsie P kst
AL e Parnars (Teopy Loertp-Tramdasde Chnkat] , Shippig Fes (F75 pal oG, alang A ks pif ety 5 TopEm
| Puesinonc Gumet {Clis Temos Owang) i " Pagjactad TIEH Reirnuio (utodiag FE, ""’F“""i""““.’“‘.’?“.i-ﬂ
1B Exotutae (Tt Gt 50
I ) 6 dadpat pr-COW, SOBTT B
300 Partcpons s Carp B Fusshissesy™" 25 2R Acant Sudgot $74.006.50

3524

Page 151




BCL Complimentary Ticket Budget

Aveidye
Tickat
Price Per  Comp
Section Total Seats Day Days Ticket Comp
Qwner Seats Turf Club, Suites, Box Seats 1,250 $1,075 1 $1,343,750
Trainer Saats Box Seats 350 $525 1 $183,750
Breeder Seats Box Seats 150 $525 1 $78,750
Jockey Seats Box Seats 75 $525 1 $39,375
Sub-totals: 1,825 $1,645,625
Price per ticket per day # Tickets Total
Ticket Processing Fee: $12.00 1,825 $21,800

Grand Total Projected BCL Comp Tickets ; $1,667,525

Page 152




EXHIBIT "O"
PRIVATE CHEFS/CONCESSIONAIRES/CATERERS

BCL MAY EMPLOY PRIVATE CHEFS IN THE FOLLOWING AREAS:

DIRECTORS ROOM

CORPORATE SUITES (Luxury, Skyrooms, Celebrity)

TURF CLUB

IL PALIO

CLUBHOUSE TERRACE RESTAURANT

4™ FLOOR DINING ROOMS

TURF CLUB

TROPHY LOUNGE

ANY TEMPORARY STRUCTURES BUILT FOR HOSPITALITY

BLC MAY EMPLOY LOCAL RESTAURANT GROUPS OR CATERERS FOR THE

FOLLOWING AREAS:

TRACKSIDE BREAKFAST MARQUEE

ANY TEMPORARY STRUCTURES BUILT FOR HOSPITALITY
LOCATION IN PLAZA DE MEXICO FOR EXECUTION OF POP-UP
CONCESSIONS/RESTAURANTS

Page 153




EXHIBIT “pP»
2024 Proposed Pre-Sale & General Public Ticket Sales Timeline

Mailed Seat Application Window - Total Group Size: 5,000
January 2024, date TBD

¢ BCL Board and 2016 Nominators

o DMTC Board & 22" AG DISTRICT Board*

s  DMTC Turf Club Members

o  DMTC Box Seat Holders

e BCL/DMTC Sponsor reserved seating due by contractual obligations

e CHRB Board

e TOC Board
*A letter will be mailed from BCL to 22™ Ag District Board and DMTC Board. This
letter will be addressed from BCL CEO and sent by executive assistants at 22™ Ag
District and DMTC. Ticket orders will be fulfilled through BCL.

Week prior to the seat applications being mailed: DMTC mailing notice to Box
Holders and Board to give advance notice of seat request forms coming via mail.

Website ticketing pages to go live at www.breederscup.com/VIP to aide applicants in
reviewing seating options. Min tickets page will still direct to 2024 Host Site page to
sign up.

Sales entered into ticket sofiware by BCL/DMTC operators.

Window 1: EmployeeDay - ' “" Total Gioup Size: 100 =~ -
Date TBD
Noon - 6:00 p.m. ET /9:00 a.m. - 3:00 p.m. PT
o Employee Day — Group Size: 100
o BCL/NTRA: 50
o DMTC: 50 (List coming from DMTC)
o 22nd Ag District Employees (List coming from District)
* Employees may purchase up to six (6) tickets each from all remaining inventory
e Email blast to employees announcing ‘employee day® sales window date/time and
directed to call ticketing line to confirm order via operators

Date TBD mAnnaunce Tickets On-Sale Date and Presale. - - :
® Press release to announce general public on-sale date and encourage peopie to
sign-up online for pre-sale access
¢ Email and social media support {o increase pre-sale signups

Page 154




Window 2: V-VIP Tetal Group Size: ~1,500
(PRE-SALE CODE: TBD)
Date TBD
Noon -~ 6:00 p.m. ET / 9:00 a.m. — 3:00 p.m. PT
o BC loyal fans — Group size: ~954
o Purchased five of the last five years (247) or four of the last five years
(752)
e  DMTC loyal fans (fan advisory board) and big bettors
o DMTC to determine — Group size ~300 (List coming from DMTC)
e Local industry organizations and key civic groups — Group size: TBD
o Host Committee, San Diego Tourism board, Del Mar Village Association
Board, ete. (List coming from DMTC)
o TOBA Board, IC Board, CTBA Board, CTT Board, etc.
o Sponsors and media partners
o Email sent to these groups providing information to prepare them for pre-sale
window along with scheduled reminder emails
= Only send reminders to those that haven’t purchased yet
e Each individual may purchase up to four (4) tickets each from all remaining
inventory

Window 3: VIP - .
(PRE-SALE CODE: TBD)
Date TBD
Noon — 6:00 p.m. ET / 9:00 a.m. — 3:00 p.m. PT
o Next level of loyal fans
o Purchased tickets three of last five (1,162) or two of last five (2,720)
o  DMTC next level of loyal fans (List coming from DMTC-GB)
o DMTC to determine - Group size ~1,100
e Track Outreach
o Offer Challenge tracks the option to buy tickets for their VIPs
e Email sent to these groups providing information to prepare them for pre-sale
window along with scheduled reminder emails

Tota! Group Size: ~5,000

Window 4: Past Purchasers & Ouline Sigiups ~ Total Group Size: ~75,000

(PRE-SALE CODE: TBD)

Date TBD

Noon - 6:00 p.m. ET / 9:00 a.m. - 3:00 p.m. PT
s All remaining past BC ticket purchasers (32,000) !
o People who signed up for ticket information on BreedersCup,com (37,000) 5
o Email sent to these groups providing information to prepare them for pre-sale

window along with scheduled reminder emails

Page 155




General Public Sale
NO CODE NEEDED»
Date TBD
o Tickets on sale to general public (6 tickets per patron)
e Press event on announcing ticket details, timing and directing people to sign up
for presale (window 4)
¢ PR team places exclusive story in major national publication to coincide with
release
o Ifnot national, will give to San Diego UT exclusively
© Second press release will be issued on X date as to when tickets officially go on sale

Page 156




EXHIDIT "Q"

2024 ESTINATED BCWC QNSITE PARKING PLAN & BUDGET (8ingle-Day Pitcing)

Projectéd Invantary Gokd Projacled
Parhing Usags Spaces BCL Hold  DMTG Hald Fridoy Baturdey Flldgx Prico  Soluwday Prlco  Roverua
Atain Lot Parlicipating Horesinen, Trophy Lousge, Prefeired Sell-Paiklng 2000 150 1,250 1250 5 FL T § I87.500
Lain Loy BCAG 20 200 0 00 H B 3§ 5§ Wm0
Qulsida O'Bifen Hall DTG Board Patking & Racing Commbaian n 20 0 ] $ P 1 -8
kickays Designaled parking 1y onl of OTvien Holl a0 G0 0 o H - % - $ -
Misdlon Tawer Racing & Tickling Office Puvking-BGL Ofiices 40 40 1 ] H LI 1 - 3 -
O'Brien Hall Valel 200 150 4] 0 A9 H 2§ 125 § 0000
Grokiy Hell Vnle) 200 00 200 § s 126§ 50900
Limo Iy front of Exhilil Hall & n 50 0 5 [} 3 3 15 S5 1250
'

Gharler Bus Parlny) V1P Shuldes-30, Chaler Gharler Bus Packing In frent af Crachy Halt 50 0 il 20 [ it 8 175 $ 7000
Ghadal VBlage Paking Gancert area-Gictel Village Tickes holders 20 200 200 200 § F ] 75§ 000
GreonLol TI48 LOT, LUKURY FLEET 120 2 L] $ . | LI 1 -
Tiaming Track Kay Shl ParkingMBC overffow ] 0 500 H ] - f
Red Lal Suafl {Prembar, DT, BCL Vender J/5falf 1000 400 600 800
Slabbo Aoz Horsenn [HGWRDHITG) 750 s a [} H ] - 8 ~
Uspvad Lel {0t Lok-Mo publi sel i ] 2800 200 1m0 [ ] H B ] 5 -
Denkal Diracd Lal Ubst 500 2] 51 ] - 3 $ -

B3f0 910 1970 3720 a7 F 387,000
201¥ BCL Parking Alecation Detal]

‘Hersamon, Racing Panel
Hersznion, VIP feesls
SponsrsfTiophy Lawge
Lima [BOD, ViP5, Horsenen)
Buses

810 Mein Lol Jockep Parking
150 Viakot Parkinig, QBeken Hall
200 Cholet ¥Mage Parking
30 fincheden 1 for ponsar noscs)
30 {20 TM5, 20 e qrovpeshorseinan)

Herkaling Parding 200 Hed Lot
Key Vandor & Conkuctors Paking 200 Redlol
Ruating & Trikeling Qifce Paking 40 Ouiakfe Maskon Toar
Hoiesmen, Vals, S1alf, Secuiily, Stabla Vendors 150 Sisbls ates
e 200 Mah Lod
P 300 1 Lo}
290

Page 157




@ | Exhibit R
]}n’cdas’

G Expense Approval Worksheet

Please list below other bidders and amount of bids {attach all bids to this form). If no
bIdS were solicited or if the bid accepted was not the low bid, please explain the reason below.
-Attach any additional information sheets necessary

mm‘eréial/ Umhrell'a

Worker's Cnmpensation

necessary Cerl:lﬂcate of l isti

Signature of Requestor Date:

Host Track; Senior Management Date:

BCL: CEQ/Senior Management

Date: **¥#dsrksrtethrtsttd Attach copies of all contracts & bids to this form when submitted
Aok ko ok ok R kR Rk ke R ek

Page 158




o

EXHIBIT “5”

DEL MAR EXECUTIVES

CEO: loe Harper

President: Josh Rubinstein

Eve {C'-FO | s A-

Page 159




	SRTLC Agenda August 14 2023 (draft).pdf
	Binder7.pdf
	Binder6.pdf
	SRTLC ROLL CALL.pdf
	2-1 RTLC MEETING Minutes Mar 30 2022 draft.pdf
	3-2a Del Mar Cap Imp Account Bank Rec.pdf
	3-2b Del Mar Cap Imp Account Bank Statement.pdf
	3-3a DMTC Operating Results for 2022.pdf
	ecopier@sdfair.com_20230811_144504.pdf
	6-1a SRTLC Breeders Cup Terms 2024 Memo.pdf
	6-1b DMTC Breeders Cup Terms Memo.pdf
	6-1c  DMTC BC Agreement 2024.pdf





